Syracuse University

# SURFACE at Syracuse University

Theses - ALL

Summer 7-1-2022

# Differential Evaluation of Straight and Gay Men for Nonverbal Effeminate Behavior

Art D. Marsden Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/thesis

Part of the Social Psychology Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Marsden, Art D., "Differential Evaluation of Straight and Gay Men for Nonverbal Effeminate Behavior" (2022). *Theses - ALL*. 636. https://surface.syr.edu/thesis/636

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by SURFACE at Syracuse University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses - ALL by an authorized administrator of SURFACE at Syracuse University. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

#### Abstract

The purpose of this study was to determine how violation of gender-based expectancies might influence attitudes toward men who differ by sexual orientation (i.e., straight or gay). While other studies have examined attitudes toward gay and straight men who differ by gender expression, their designs may have been susceptible to demand effects; this study was specifically designed to avoid such methodological issues. This research was informed by Expectancy-Violation Theory (EVT) and the Black Sheep Effect, which together suggest that an effeminate straight man should be evaluated by other straight men more negatively than an effeminate gay man because the former target negatively violated expectations. Additionally, EVT suggests that a masculine gay man should be evaluated more positively than a masculine straight man because the former positively violated expectations. Self-identified straight men evaluated a male target whose sexual orientation and gender conformity were manipulated through a photo and vignette. Moderated mediation analyses were performed to determine if perceived expectancy violation mediated the relationship between sexual orientation and evaluations for both effeminate and masculine men. When sexual prejudice was used as a covariate, straight masculine targets were evaluated more favorably than gay masculine targets. Perceived expectancy violation did not mediate the relationship between sexual orientation and evaluations regardless of gender expression. More research should be conducted to identify the mechanism through which evaluations of straight and gay targets differ based on gender expression.

Keywords: Gender expression, sexual orientation, sexual prejudice

# DIFFERENTIAL EVALUATION OF STRAIGHT AND GAY MEN FOR NONVERBAL EFFEMINATE BEHAVIOR

by

Art D. Marsden

B.S., University of North Texas, 2017

Thesis Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Psychology.

> Syracuse University July 2022

Copyright © Art D. Marsden 2022

All Rights Reserved

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	
Expectancy-Violation Theory	4
The Black Sheep Effect	6
Integrating EVT and the BSE	6
Evidence for EVT and BSE Assumptions in the Sexual Prejudice Literature	
Gender Conformity Domains	
Study Aims	14
Hypotheses	17
Method	19
Participants	19
Procedure Overview	
Targets	
Measures	
Primary Evaluations	
Exploratory Evaluations	
Perceived Expectancy Violation	
Sexual Prejudice	
Socially Desirable Responding	
Manipulation and Attention Check	
Results	
Preliminary Analyses	
Hypothesis Testing	
Exploratory Analyses	
Exploring Evaluations Without a Covariate	
Expectancy Violation	
Certainty of John's Sexual Orientation	
Suspicion Check	
Moral Disgust	
Warmth and Competence	
Discussion	39
Evidence for the Assumptions Informed by EVT and the BSE	40

Contribution to the Sexual Prejudice Literature	43
Exploratory Results	45
Limitations and Future Directions	46
Conclusion	47
Tables	49
Appendices	62
References	66
Vita	79

# List of Illustrative Materials

Summary of Reviewed Literature
Assumptions, Associated Hypotheses, Informing Theories, and Suggested Relationships 51
Sample Demographics ( <i>n</i> = 196)
Bivariate Correlations Between and Descriptive Statistics for Primary Variables of Interest 53
Estimated Marginal Means and Standard Deviations by Condition for Primary and Exploratory ANCOVA Models
ANCOVA Results and Interaction Descriptives for Liking, Proximity, Global Evaluation, and Affiliation Models
Moderated Mediation Effects for Liking Model
Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Estimated Marginal Means for Liking
Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Estimated Marginal Means for Proximity
Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Estimated Marginal Means for Global Evaluation
Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Means for Perceived Expectancy Violation
Liking Moderated Mediation Model

#### Differential Evaluation of Straight and Gay Men for Nonverbal Effeminate Behavior

Gender conformity refers to adherence to the roles and expectations traditionally assigned to one's gender (Parent et al., 2012). For males, violations of these expectations include wearing feminine clothing or makeup, speaking with a high or soft voice, swaying the hips while walking, excessively gesturing with the wrist or displaying a "limp wrist," interests in stereotypically feminine hobbies (e.g., fashion) or occupations (e.g., florist), or a preference for the company of women (Levant et al., 2007; Lippa, 2002; Schatzberg et al., 1975; Taywaditep, 2002). In Western cultures, there is an emphasis on men adhering to masculine norms and the superiority of masculinity over femininity (Connell, 1987; Eguchi, 2009; Pleck et al., 1998). Indeed, the importance of acting masculine is reinforced at an early age; boys are consistently taught that they should "play with trucks, not dolls" (Schope & Eliason, 2004, p. 74) and otherwise conform to male gender expectations (Mahalik et al., 2003; Martin, 1990). Boys who violate these expectations are often discouraged by parents and peers by means of ostracism or verbal or physical abuse (Beard & Bakeman, 2001; Carter & McCloskey, 1983; Harry, 1989; Landolt et al., 2004; Smith & Leaper, 2005). Historically, gender nonconforming boys and transgender girls<sup>1</sup> have even been referred for clinical treatment of effeminacy (i.e., the expression of feminine traits in boys and men; Bartlett et al., 2000; Hooilim & Bottomley, 1983; Stoller, 1978; Wrate & Gulens, 1986), a practice which still occurs today in the forms of gender or sexual identity conversion therapy (Mallory et al., 2019; Turban et al., 2019). In adulthood, effeminate men may continue to experience discrimination and ostracism (Clarke & Smith,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Traditionally, there was no clinical distinction between an effeminate boy and a feminine transgender girl such that both were considered effeminate males (e.g., Wrate & Gulens, 1986). The use of "effeminacy" in this work instead matches the contemporary usage of the term, which is restricted to those who identify as male or masculine in gender.

2015; Gul & Uskul, 2020; Li et al., 2020). For example, men who value their reputation as masculine may be reluctant to form friendships with effeminate men (Gul & Uskul, 2020).

Historically, effeminacy has been associated with gay men (Taywaditep, 2002); men who are effeminate are assumed to be gay and gay men are perceived to be less masculine (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009a). Similarly, men in stereotypically-feminine occupations (e.g., nursing, teaching) are often assumed to be gay (Dyck et al., 2009; Moss-Racusin & Johnson, 2016), while gay men are perceived as more suitable for these occupations than straight men but less suitable for stereotypically-masculine occupations (e.g., engineering; Rule et al., 2016). There is some truth to these stereotypes, as gay men are more likely to be gender nonconforming (Rieger et al., 2008; Skidmore et al., 2006; Taywaditep, 2002). However, not every man who violates gender norms (e.g., speaks with a high voice, wears make-up) identifies as gay or is sexually attracted to men (Beaver, 2015). While boyhood gender nonconformity may be associated with gay identification in adulthood, not every gender nonconforming boy grows up to identify as a gay, bisexual, or otherwise non-straight man; some grow up to identify as transgender women—who may additionally identify as straight, gay, or any other sexual orientation (Kuper et al., 2012) while others identify as straight, cisgender men (Bailey & Zucker, 1995; Bartlett et al., 2000; Bryant, 2008). Additionally, not every gay man is effeminate; some gay men "defeminize" before reaching adulthood (Taywaditep, 2002), while others report they never violated gender norms (Bailey & Zucker, 1995). Indeed, some "straight-acting" gay men firmly adhere to male gender role expectations (Eguchi, 2009) and may even disparage other gay men who violate gender role norms (Miller & Behm-Morawitz, 2016; Taywaditep, 2002).

Thus, there is obviously no perfect association between gender conformity and sexual orientation such that all effeminate men are gay and all masculine men are straight, or that all

gay men are effeminate and all straight men are masculine. However, the effeminate gay man remains a prevalent stereotype (Mize & Manago, 2018; Steffens et al., 2019), and this may lead to gay and straight men being perceived differently when they are gender nonconforming. While gay men still face prejudice and discrimination, there has been a steady decrease in sexual prejudice over the past two decades (Poushter & Kent, 2020). Thus, it may be that some increasingly believe that "gay is okay" while still associating gay men with effeminacy. Even though an effeminate gay man may be considered a "double violator" of norms (i.e., violating expectations about both gender and sexual roles; Lehavot & Lambert, 2007), to those lower in sexual prejudice, effeminacy may be acceptable for gay men. In that way, a gay man's combined gender and sexual identity ("gay man") may be more salient to others than his gender identity alone ("man"), and this combined identity may be associated with a different set of expectations. On the other hand, an effeminate straight man would be unlikely to benefit from the association between gay men and effeminacy and would still be perceived as a gender norm violator. If so, this would suggest that an effeminate straight man would be evaluated more negatively—and may even face greater ostracism or other discriminatory outcomes-than an effeminate gay man.

Despite the existence of straight men who are effeminate (Beaver, 2015), there are few studies that focus on this population. Specific to this research, I have found only seven studies that sought to determine how evaluations of straight and gay men might differ as a function of gender conformity; however, as discussed later, the designs of these studies may have left them susceptible to demand effects or social desirability bias. The purpose of this study is to add to the scant literature in this area by attempting to clarify if effeminate straight and gay men are differentially evaluated by other men and how these evaluations are influenced by perceived violations of expectations. Specifically, this study will test three assumptions informed by two theories that address the influence of norm violations on person evaluation: Expectancy-Violation Theory (assumptions 1 and 2) and the Black Sheep Effect (assumption 3).

## **Expectancy-Violation Theory**

According to Expectancy-Violation Theory (EVT), when someone violates a stereotypebased expectation, they will be judged more extremely in the same "direction" (i.e., positively or negatively) as the violation than they would have if no violation had occurred (Jussim et al., 1987). In other words, someone who violates stereotype-based expectations by engaging in a behavior that is perceived negatively should be evaluated less favorably, while someone who violates expectations by engaging in a positively-received behavior should be evaluated more favorably. For example, Jackson et al. (1993) found that participants evaluated a White high school student's abilities more negatively than a Black high school student's when both had equally weak academic credentials; the authors suggest that, by performing worse than expected, the White student negatively violated expectations. Research has also found that men who are more communal (modest, cooperative, caring) are perceived as less suitable than equally communal women for roles that emphasize leadership (Bosak et al., 2018; Moss-Racusin et al., 2010). Likewise, women who violate expectations by being more agentic (self-reliant, assertive, independent) are rated as less suitable for jobs that benefit more from communality than agentic men (Rudman & Glick, 1999).

Because femininity is a negative trait for men to express (e.g., Pleck et al., 1998), when straight men are expected to be masculine, EVT suggests that they would be evaluated more negatively for effeminacy than a gay man (assumption 1). However, EVT also accounts for directionality such that, when someone positively violates a stereotype-based expectation, they should also be evaluated more positively than someone engaging in the same behavior but who did not violate expectations. For example, when agentic women are considered for roles where agency is perceived as beneficial (e.g., leadership roles), they are considered to be a better fit than agentic men (Schaumberg & Flynn, 2017). Thus, when gay men are expected to violate gender norms (i.e., by being effeminate), EVT suggests they would be evaluated more positively for gender conformity than a straight man (assumption 2). For that reason, this research will also examine differences in evaluations of masculine straight and masculine gay men.

It is important to note that global evaluation (i.e., general positive or negative affective reactions) of violators in the EVT literature do not always mirror other judgments (e.g., Rudman & Glick, 1999, 2001; Schaumberg & Flynn, 2017). Indeed, it may be easier to detect expectancy violation effects through global evaluation rather than judgments that require trait inferences (Biernat et al., 1999). Thus, it may be that the current study's groups of interest (masculine or effeminate gay or straight men) are evaluated differently across different judgment domains. Research informed by Fiske et al.'s (2002) stereotype content model suggests that gay men are perceived as warmer (e.g., friendly, helpful) but also as less competent (e.g., skilled, intelligent) than straight men (Mize & Manago, 2018), and effeminate gay men are similarly perceived as warmer but less competent than masculine gay men (Brooks et al., 2019; Sink et al., 2018). People who stereotype social groups as higher in warmth but lower in competence are more likely to socially exclude or avoid these groups but also to help them (Cuddy et al., 2007). However, because judgments of competence (but not warmth) require trait inferences (Biernat et al., 1999), it was unclear how judgments associated with social inclusion and helping would differ as a function of expectancy violation. For exploratory purposes, this research assessed not only liking, but also warmth, competence, social inclusion (specifically, physical proximity and affiliation), and helping.

# **The Black Sheep Effect**

While we all tend to favor and trust those who belong to the same social group as us (i.e., ingroup members; Tajfel, 1982; Turner & Reynolds, 2010), research on the Black Sheep Effect (BSE) finds that when someone violates ingroup expectations, that person will be more negatively evaluated by highly-identified ingroup members than if they belonged to a different social group (i.e., an outgroup; Marques & Paez, 1994; Marques et al., 1988). For example, Belgians rated association football fans who started a riot more negatively when they imagined them as Belgian than when they imagined them as German (Marques et al., 1988, Experiment 3). This strategy serves to protect the status of the ingroup and one's self-esteem by symbolically distancing the violator and their deviancy from the ingroup.

Thus, the BSE suggests that highly-identified straight men should evaluate effeminate straight men more negatively than effeminate gay men because the straight man violated ingroup norms (assumption 1). However, according to the BSE (or more specifically Social Identity Theory, from which it is derived; Tajfel, 1982), if the straight man does not violate ingroup norms (e.g., by being masculine), then other highly-identified straight men should evaluate him more positively than they would an outgroup member (e.g., a gay man) through inherent ingroup bias. Thus, even though EVT suggests a masculine gay man would receive more positive evaluations than a masculine straight man because the former positively violated expectations while the latter only met expectations (assumption 2), when these targets are evaluated by straight men, ingroup bias effects may lead to the masculine straight man being evaluated more positively than the masculine gay man (assumption 3).

## **Integrating EVT and the BSE**

Despite the potential conflict noted above (assumptions 2 and 3) when comparisons are made between an outgroup member who positively violates a group expectancy (e.g., masculine gay men when evaluated by a straight man) and an ingroup member who does not violate ingroup norms (e.g., a masculine straight man), Biernat et al. (1999) propose that EVT and the BSE can be peacefully integrated. Indeed, the authors suggest that the two theories are actually "intimately connected" (p. 536) because both suggest that evaluations are influenced by violation of expectations—for the BSE, because we have favorable expectations for those who share an ingroup with us.

Using Jackson et al.'s (1993) design as an example, according to EVT, a White participant should evaluate a Black high school student more positively than a White student when both have equally strong academic credentials because the Black student positively violated expectations. However, according to the BSE, a White participant high in racial identification should judge the White student more positively than the Black student because the White student is a member of the participant's ingroup (i.e., "White"). In this scenario, Jackson et al.'s (1993) results supported the former theory (i.e., EVT). According to Biernat et al. (1999), this is not actually a contradiction of either theory; instead, it may be that results like Jackson et al.'s (1993) are due to a clear violation of expectations having occurred, which may have been more salient to participants than the White target's ingroup status. However, when expectancy violations are ambiguous (and thus less salient) and targets share an ingroup with the participant, we might observe more positive evaluations for targets through an ingroup bias effect. For these reasons, Biernat et al. (1999) recommend directly measuring perceived expectancy violation in EVT research.

Biernat et al. (1999) included such a measure in their own study looking at differential evaluations of White and Black targets. White participants who were high in racial identification did not rate Black targets more favorably than White targets when both performed equally well on a task, and these targets did not differ in terms of perceived expectancy violation. Instead, White targets were rated marginally more favorably, suggesting a slight ingroup bias effect (although this difference was non-significant). However, White targets who performed poorly on the task *did* violate expectations more and were evaluated more negatively than poor-performing Black targets. Because ingroup information is more personally-relevant, it is processed more systematically; this extends to information about social norm deviancy and may explain harsher derogation of ingroup deviants as suggested by the BSE (Coull et al., 2001; Reese et al., 2013). Thus, negative violations of stereotype-based expectancies may be more salient when committed by ingroup members. This suggests the strongest EVT effect may be observed for ingroup targets who negatively violate expectations (i.e., assumption 1), such as when straight men evaluate other straight men who defy gender norms. Additionally, ingroup bias effects may not be observed if gay men are perceived as clearly and positively violating expectations by being masculine (Biernat et al., 1999). Alternatively, if a masculine gay man does not clearly and positively violate expectations, the BSE suggests that the straight man would be evaluated more positively by highly-identified straight men (assumption 3).

#### **Evidence for EVT and BSE Assumptions in the Sexual Prejudice Literature**

Researchers have long sought to determine the role that effeminacy plays in negative attitudes toward gay men (e.g., MacDonald & Games, 1976; Storms, 1978). In attempting to parse these variables, researchers will sometimes present participants with gay male targets whose level of gender conformity is manipulated through vignettes or other stimuli. When these study designs include a sexual orientation manipulation, it allows for comparisons between evaluations for gay and straight men who engage in gender nonconformity. Seven of such articles have been identified (for a summary of this literature, see Table 1).

Only one of these seven studies was directly informed by EVT. Gowen and Britt (2006) had their participants listen to an audiotape of a man who mentioned having a boyfriend or girlfriend and who spoke with a "gay" (with more dynamic intonation and sibilant /s/ sounds) or "straight" voice. Their participants indicated they would allocate less scholarship funding for straight targets than gay targets when both were effeminate (supporting assumption 1). This may reflect a greater desire to help effeminate gay men over effeminate straight men (perhaps because effeminate gay men were perceived as higher in warmth but lower in competence than effeminate straight men; Cuddy et al., 2007). However, participants did not significantly differ in their decisions to admit, nor did they desire more social distance from, effeminate gay men compared to effeminate straight men (contradicting assumption 1). Additionally, participants desired more social distance from masculine gay over masculine straight men (contradicting assumption 2 and supporting assumption 3). Unfortunately, because Gowen and Britt's (2006) participants did not complete a measure of perceived expectancy violation, it is unclear where targets violated or met participants' expectations.

The remaining six articles reviewed in this area also do not prima facie support this research's assumptions re EVT and the BSE. For example, there is little in this literature to indicate that effeminate straight men would be evaluated more harshly because they violated expectations (assumption 1). In none of these articles were straight men evaluated significantly less favorably than gay men when both were effeminate. Additionally, while EVT might lead us to assume that masculine gay men positively violate expectations and would thus be evaluated

more positively than masculine straight men (assumption 2), this research has largely suggested the opposite (i.e., that participants rate straight men more favorably than gay men when both are masculine; Horn, 2007; Laner & Laner, 1979; Storms, 1978).<sup>2</sup> This may be because these gay men did not clearly violate expectations by being masculine, and thus straight men were liked more due to ingroup bias (assumption 3; Biernat et al., 1999). Indeed, Laner and Laner's (1979) participants estimated that only 16-25% of gay men in the general population are effeminate and 46-55% are "undetectable" (i.e., normatively masculine). It could be that, despite prevalent stereotypes (e.g., Parmenter et al., 2019), the existence of gay men who are largely gender conforming is widely known. Thus, while an effeminate gay man may be expected, a masculine gay man may not be *un*expected.

It may also be that there is little support for either of these assumptions because sexual prejudice toward gay men overpowered any expectancy-violation effects—that is, perhaps gay targets' sexual orientation played a larger role in their evaluations than whether they violated expectations or not. It should be noted that taken together, assumptions 1 and 2 suggest, perhaps implausibly, that regardless of whether a man is gender conforming or gender nonconforming, he should be evaluated more positively if he is gay than if he is straight. However, in this literature, gay men are consistently rated significantly less favorably than straight men regardless of gender conformity (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b, 2012; Laner & Laner, 1979; Lehavot & Lambert, 2007; Storms, 1978). Four of the seven reviewed studies included a measure of sexual prejudice (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b, 2012; Gowen & Britt, 2006; Lehavot & Lambert, 2007), but results were inconsistent between studies. Lehavot and Lambert (2007) found that,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While Storms (1978) and Laner and Laner (1979) reported higher mean evaluations for straight masculine over straight gay men, because they were not interested in comparisons across sexual orientation, they did not report whether these differences were significant.

unsurprisingly, it was those high in sexual prejudice who most disliked and rated as immoral gay men over straight men and effeminate men over masculine men. Those who were low in sexual prejudice showed an opposite (although nonsignificant) pattern for liking, and rated masculine gay men as significantly less immoral than masculine straight men (partially supporting assumption 2). In contrast, Blashill and Powlishta (2009b) found that gay and effeminate men were less liked regardless of participants' level of sexual prejudice. Gowen and Britt (2006) also found that sexual prejudice did not influence target evaluations, but was positively associated with a desire for greater social distance from gay and effeminate men. Finally, Blashill and Powlishta (2012) reported that there were no differences on any study variables by sexual prejudice. Overall, then, past research does not easily lend itself to the interpretation that sexual prejudice toward gay men simply overpowers any expectancy-violation effects.

It is worth noting that these four studies administered to participants the Attitudes toward Lesbians and Gay Men scale (ATLG; Herek, 1988). The ATLG measures overt prejudice (e.g., "I think male homosexuals are disgusting"), but because people have become more knowledgeable about gay men and gay rights issues, people may be less likely to endorse "blatantly homophobic items" such as those included in this measure (Morrison & Morrison, 2003; Raja & Stokes, 1998, p. 115). The lack of consistent results in this literature does not appear to be an issue of inadequate variance, as response means on the ATG were near the scale midpoint for two of the three studies that supplied this information (i.e., Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b; Gowen & Britt, 2006).<sup>3</sup> Regardless, because negative attitudes toward gay men have become more subtle (Massey et al., 2013; Nadal, 2013), a measure that better taps into this "modern" prejudice is warranted to clarify how sexual prejudice may overpower EVT effects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Lehavot and Lambert (2007) obtained a sample mean toward the low-prejudice end of the scale.

# **Gender Conformity Domains**

The seven studies reviewed above (see Table 1) have targeted a variety of domains to manipulate gender conformity, and often combined traits and various elements of effeminacy within their vignettes (for a discussion on effeminacy domains, see Hennen, 2001). For example, Storms (1978) and Laner and Laner (1979) presented undergraduate students with vignettes in which gender conformity was manipulated through college major (fashion design vs. business), activity (dance vs. intramural sports), and appearance (dress: flowery shirts, tight-fitting European slacks, and stacked-heel shoes vs. sweaters, jeans, and hiking boots). Horn (2007) presented tenth and twelfth-graders with vignettes where targets were either gender conforming, gender nonconforming through appearance (GNC-appearance), or gender nonconforming through activity (GNC-activity). Male targets either played baseball (gender conforming, GNCappearance) or performed ballet (GNC-activity) and either dressed and acted similarly to (gender conforming, GNC-activity) or differently than the other students at school (GNC-appearance). Blashill and Powlishta (2009b) presented undergraduate students with vignettes in which gender conformity was manipulated through desired occupation (engineer vs. dietician), activities (riding a motorcycle and shooting pool vs. gymnastics and baking cookies), and traits (leader and strong vs. affectionate and well-mannered). Finally, Blashill and Powlishta (2012) manipulated gender conformity through activities (goes fishing, builds with tools, fixes cars vs. bakes cookies, baby-sits, reads romance novels), traits (brave, adventurous, brags a lot vs. emotional, shy, talkative [GNC-trait]), and appearance (deep voice, broad shoulders, rough hands vs. hips sway when walking, plucked eye-brows, delicate).

It is understandable that these researchers would include multiple gender conformity domains in their stimulus materials (e.g., in the same vignette) in an attempt to ensure their targets are perceived as sufficiently effeminate or masculine. Unfortunately, this makes it difficult to compare results between studies and to determine whether certain domains may elicit more of an expectancy-violation effect than others. However, the results from two of these studies may provide insight into how these domains are differentially evaluated. Horn (2007) found that, for both straight and gay men, GNC–appearance targets (those who dressed and acted differently from other students) were rated as less "acceptable" than GNC–activity targets. Blashill and Powlishta (2012) similarly found that GNC–appearance targets (hips sway when walking, plucked eye-brows, delicate) were rated more negatively than GNC–activity and GNC– trait targets. Thus, it may be that visible gender role violations of this type are more salient and lead to more negative evaluations than activity (e.g., baking cookies) or trait violations (e.g., emotional). Indeed, Hennen (2001) notes that it is the more-visible types of effeminacy that best fit the contemporary stereotype of the "effeminate homosexual" (p. 133).

Sánchez and Vilain (2012) provide further insight into which type of male gender nonconformity may be perceived as most egregious. In their study, gay men were asked to identify how important it was that they look (e.g., "your clothes, hair") and behave (e.g., "your speech, mannerisms") masculine while in public (p. 113). Both were considered important, but gay men least wanted to behave effeminately; this may have been the most salient marker of effeminacy for them. Because gay men (in the West) are conditioned to value masculinity through the same culture as straight men (Connell, 1987; Eguchi, 2009; Pleck et al., 1998), it would be unsurprising if behavior was also a more salient marker of effeminacy for straight men. Indeed, nonverbal behavior seems to be a particularly salient marker of sexual orientation<sup>4</sup>;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Notably, nonverbal effeminacy was included in Blashill and Powlishta's (2012) GNC–appearance vignette (i.e., "hips sway when walking"; p. 1296) and may have been inferred from part of Horn's (2007) GNC–appearance vignette (i.e., "acts differently from most of the other guys at school"; p. 367). Thus, their appearance conditions may have been confounded with nonverbal behavior.

people consistently identify male targets as gay when they walk (Johnson et al., 2007), gesture (Ambady et al., 1999), or speak in a stereotypically-feminine manner (Linville, 1998). For these reasons, this research focused on nonverbal behavior as the gender conformity domain.

# **Study Aims**

This study sought to extend the EVT literature by examining if and how gay and straight men are differentially evaluated when they violate gender norm expectations through nonverbal behavior and to clarify how these evaluations are influenced by sexual prejudice. Additionally, it fills a gap in the literature by focusing on a rarely studied population: effeminate straight men. Although I am only aware of one study that was directly informed by EVT and examined differential evaluation of targets who vary by sexual orientation and gender conformity (i.e., Gowen & Britt, 2006), other literature in this area utilized methods that also allow for comparisons between this study's groups of interest (see Table 1). These studies largely provided evidence that contradicted this study's assumptions; however, because they sought to answer a different research question (i.e., what role does effeminacy play in sexual prejudice toward gay men?) and made little effort to control for demand effects, their methods were not best suited to testing the questions proposed in this work.

For example, no researchers (including Gowen & Britt, 2006) administered to their participants a measure of perceived expectancy violation, so it is unclear if any targets violated expectations. As recommended by Biernat et al. (1999), my study included such a measure to determine if targets violated expectations and would thus be expected to receive more extreme evaluations as predicted by EVT. Additionally, researchers either utilized a measure of overt (as opposed to subtle) sexual prejudice or none at all (see Table 1), which makes it difficult to determine the role sexual prejudice might play in target evaluations. This study instead included a measure of modern sexual prejudice, which should more accurately capture contemporary negative attitudes toward gay men (Morrison & Morrison, 2003; Raja & Stokes, 1998). The inclusion of this measure allowed the examination of how sexual prejudice interacts with perceived expectancy violation. Researchers also often included different gender conformity domains in their manipulations (i.e., Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b; Horn, 2007; Laner & Laner, 1979; Storms, 1978); because these domains may differ in salience, this makes comparisons between these studies difficult. This study focused on one domain: nonverbal behavior, which should be more a more salient marker of gender expression than activities, traits (Blashill & Powlishta, 2012; Horn, 2007), and appearance (Sánchez & Vilain, 2012).

Researchers examining how gender conformity influences sexual prejudice have typically used liking or general global evaluation as their outcome measure (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b, 2012; Laner & Laner, 1979; Lehavot & Lambert, 2007; Storms, 1978). Some have also included measures that may have greater real-world implications, such as willingness to work with the target on a task (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b, 2012), scholarship funding allocation, or social distance (Gowen & Britt, 2006). It is likely these different domains would be correlated with one another, but they may be differentially influenced by sexual orientation and gender conformity; for example, Gowen and Britt (2006) found that effeminate gay men were not evaluated more positively than effeminate straight men, but participants chose to allocate more scholarship funding to them. Additionally, there is evidence in the EVT literature that evaluations of expectancy violators are not always positive or negative across all domains (e.g., Rudman & Glick, 1999, 2001; Schaumberg & Flynn, 2017). Thus, to examine potential differences by judgment domain, this study included a measure of liking as well as measures with greater real-world implications: those that measure willingness to be physically close to, to affiliate with, and

to help targets. Because gay men are often stereotyped in a way (i.e., higher in warmth, but lower in competence) that suggests people are more likely to socially neglect but also to help them (Brooks et al., 2019; Cuddy et al., 2007; Mize & Manago, 2018; Sink et al., 2018), these first two measures were included to broadly capture forms of ostracism, while the third measure was included to capture helping. Items were also included to directly capture perceived target warmth and competency.

Additionally, this research attempted to avoid demand effects that may have influenced the results of some of the reviewed studies. Demand effects refer to changes in participants' responses due to cues that indicate the true purpose of the study; participants may respond in a way that they feel will confirm study hypotheses to "help" the researchers (Iyengar, 2011; Orne, 1962). One such cue may be using a within-subject design such that participants rate multiple manipulated targets (e.g., Horn, 2007; Laner & Laner, 1979). By receiving multiple targets that differ only in sexual orientation and/or gender conformity, participants may be able to discern that researchers expect different evaluations between targets based on these characteristics. To avoid this potential issue, this study used a between-subjects design such that each participant only evaluated one manipulated target. There may also be a benefit to including additional "filler" targets that differ from the primary target of interest and are not manipulated. While none of the reviewed studies utilized them, the inclusion of filler targets may also help reduce demand effects. If participants only receive one target to evaluate and its manipulated characteristics (i.e., sexual orientation, gender conformity) are thus particularly salient, it may make the purpose of the study clearer. Thus, this study included two filler targets to further obfuscate the true purpose of the study. Demand effects may also be cued by the stimulus materials themselves-for example, explicitly describing targets as "just like" or "differently from" other males when

manipulating gender conformity (Horn, 2007, p. 367). Alternatively, including a large list of feminine or masculine behaviors, even with the inclusion of some neutral behaviors (Lehavot & Lambert, 2007), may suggest to participants that gender conformity is a variable of interest. In this study, gender conformity was manipulated through nonverbal behaviors included in the target of interest's vignette. Additional markers of gender conformity were provided through a photo manipulation in which participants are posed in a more masculine or effeminate manner.

Finally, because straight men report more negative attitudes toward gay men (Herek & McLemore, 2013; Ratcliff et al., 2006) and gender nonconformity (Adams et al., 2016; Levant et al., 2007) than straight women do, the attitudes of the former population have potentially greater implications for how gender-nonconforming men are evaluated and treated. Thus, this study's primary population of interest was straight men. Studying this population allowed for indirect testing of the integration of the BSE with EVT with a smaller sample. If a target's ingroup status (i.e., as a man or a straight man) is more salient to participants than an outgroup target's positive expectancy violation (i.e., a gay man being masculine), then we would expect to find that straight men would evaluate masculine straight men more positively than masculine gay men (contrary to assumption 2 but consistent with assumption 3).

### **Hypotheses**

This study directly tested two assumptions informed by EVT and the BSE. First, EVT and the BSE suggest that straight men who expect other straight men to be masculine should evaluate effeminate straight men more negatively than effeminate gay men for negatively violating stereotype and ingroup expectations (assumption 1; Jussim et al., 1987; Marques et al., 1988). Thus, I hypothesized that, ( $H_{Ia}$ ) when men are effeminate, straight men would be evaluated more negatively than gay men. Despite the existence of gender conforming gay men and gender nonconforming straight men (e.g., Beaver, 2015; Laner & Laner, 1979), effeminacy is still primarily associated with gay (but not straight) men (Taywaditep, 2002). Thus, I hypothesized that, ( $H_{Ib}$ ) when men are effeminate, straight men would be perceived as more unexpected than gay men.

Second, EVT suggests that, when gay men are expected to be effeminate but are instead masculine, they should be evaluated more favorably than masculine straight men for positively violating expectations (assumption 2). Thus, I hypothesized that,  $(H_{2a})$  when men are masculine, straight men would be evaluated more negatively than gay men. Because masculinity is associated with straight men, gay men (but not straight men) expressing masculinity should be perceived as violating expectations. Thus, I hypothesized that,  $(H_{2b})$  when men are masculine, gay men would be perceived as more unexpected than straight men.

Alternatively, the BSE suggests that, because of ingroup bias, straight men would evaluate another straight man more positively than they would a masculine gay man (assumption 3). Because violations of ingroup norms are more salient for those who more strongly identify with their group (Marques & Paez, 1994), to directly evaluate assumption 3, this study would need to measure the extent to which participants identify as a man or a straight man. Because assumption 2 and 3 predict opposite relationships, and to simplify the research design, this study focused directly on testing assumption 2. However, because all study participants were straight men, more positive evaluations of masculine straight men than masculine gay men might suggest that ingroup bias effects—but not expectancy violation effects—influenced evaluations. Thus, I also tested the hypothesis that ( $H_3$ ) when men are masculine, straight men would be evaluated more positively than gay men<sup>5</sup>.

According to EVT, because femininity is a negative trait for men to express, violations of expectations through effeminacy should be associated with more negative judgments. Additionally, because masculinity is a positive trait for men to express, violations of expectations through masculinity should be associated with more positive judgments. Thus, I hypothesized that ( $H_4$ ) perceived expectancy violation would mediate the relationship between sexual orientation and evaluations, and these relationships should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (negative) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more perceived expectancy violation, and in turn, these (positive) violations should be associated with more favorable evaluations. A summary of all hypotheses and their associated assumptions can be found in Table 2.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

Participants were initially recruited through the university's psychology department research participation pool (SONA), where undergraduate students can participate in research in exchange for partial course credit. To be eligible to participate in this study, participants were required to be at least 18 years of age and to identify as a man<sup>6</sup>. To supplement my sample,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The competing hypotheses  $H_{2a}$  and  $H_3$  were tested through the same analysis (two-way ANCOVA). Support for  $H_{2a}$  would be indicated by more positive evaluations for masculine straight men over masculine gay men while support for  $H_3$  would be indicated by more positive evaluations for masculine gay men over masculine straight men. <sup>6</sup> While my population of interest was people who identify as straight men, I was unable to prescreen for sexual orientation through SONA. So that both samples would match one another in demographics, identification as straight was also not an inclusion criterion for my MTurk sample.

participants were also recruited through Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk) using the CloudResearch MTurk Toolkit. Inclusion criteria for the MTurk sample were the same as the SONA sample, but also included residence in the U.S. and a maximum age of 25 years to match the former sample more closely. I attempted to collect a sample of 300 participants; this would allow sufficient power to detect small-to-medium path coefficients through moderated mediation (Preacher et al., 2007). A total of 304 participants completed the survey ( $n_{SONA} = 47$ ;

 $n_{\text{MTurk}}=257$ ); the mean completion time was approximately 11 minutes. The final question of the survey asked participants if they consented to have their data used for research. Participants who indicated they wanted their data discarded (n = 21) or who did not answer this question (n = 18) were removed from analysis. Participants who did not meet inclusion criteria (n = 30) and who failed the attention check item (see below; n = 1) were also excluded from analysis. Finally, because straight men were my primary population of interest, participants who identified as anything other than straight (n = 38) were excluded from primary analysis, leaving a final sample of n = 196 (48% White,  $M_{age} = 21.09$ ; see Table 3 for participant demographics).

# **Procedure Overview**

Before data collection began, this study was approved by the university's Institutional Review Board and the study's hypotheses were preregistered online through the Open Science Framework<sup>7</sup>. All parts of the study were completed remotely through Qualtrics. Prior to their participation, all participants completed informed consent. Participants were then presented with photos and vignettes of three targets. Each vignette included the target's name, age, race, occupation, and sexual orientation, as well as two behaviors they engage in (e.g., "He maintains eye contact when someone is talking to him") and two of their preferences (e.g., "He likes to do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The pre-registration for this study is located at <u>https://osf.io/2jrpx</u>

crossword puzzles"). After each vignette, participants answered several questions about the target.

The first two targets participants evaluated were filler targets designed to obfuscate the purpose of the study ("Marcus" and "Susan"; see below). Participants were then randomly assigned to one of four experimental conditions, in which the third and final target ("John") was either straight and masculine (n = 50), straight and effeminate (n = 50), gay and masculine (n = 51), or gay and effeminate (n = 45). After John was evaluated, participants completed self-report measures including sexual prejudice, demographics, a suspicion check, and a clarifying question about their perceived expectancy violation ratings (see below). Participants were then presented with the study debriefing form through Qualtrics.

# **Targets**

Marcus and Susan, the first two targets, were included to mitigate demand effects. If participants were presented solely with, for example, a straight and effeminate John, they might determine the true purpose of the study and respond differently than they otherwise would have (Iyengar, 2011; Orne, 1962). Marcus and Susan's photos<sup>8</sup> and vignettes were designed to include demographics other than those represented by John (e.g., Latino, older adult) for the purpose of obscuring the study's actual focus on sexual orientation and gender conformity (for the Marcus and Susan materials, see Appendices A and B. Additionally, because participants evaluated these targets first, the true purpose of certain items (e.g., the sexual orientation manipulation check) should have been less obvious than if they were only presented with John, the final target.

John's sexual orientation was explicitly manipulated through the vignette with information that he was straight or gay, while his gender conformity was manipulated through a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Images of Marcus and Susan were purchased from stock photo websites.

photo and the behaviors listed in his vignette (for the John materials, see Appendices C and D). Effeminate behaviors for the photos and vignettes were adapted from a scale used to identify effeminacy in men (Schatzberg et al., 1975) and were paired with masculine analogues. Participants received a photo<sup>9</sup> of one of two different college-aged White men: one who was sitting on a bench or one who was standing. Both photo sets were manipulated such that the man was posed in a more masculine (i.e., sitting back with legs spread apart or standing with feet apart and hands on hips) or effeminate manner (i.e., sitting up straight with legs tightly crossed or standing with arms and legs crossed). Two separate sets of masculine and effeminate nonverbal behaviors were created to manipulate gender conformity and participants were randomly presented with one of these sets. Effeminate John either "gestures flamboyantly when he gets excited" and "speaks with a soft voice," or he "sways his hips as he walks" and "has a soft handshake." Likewise, masculine John either "gestures assertively when he gets excited" and "speaks with a deep voice," or he "swaggers his shoulders as he walks" and "has a firm handshake." These behaviors were pretested among undergraduate students in a social psychology class (N = 126), and as expected, the masculine behaviors were rated as significantly more masculine than the effeminate behaviors.

The purpose of creating two separate sets of photos and behaviors was to enhance the construct validity of the study (see Wells & Windschitl, 1999); by including multiple exemplars of "masculinity" and "effeminacy," it is more likely that scores on dependent measures differ as a function of these constructs and not due to a more general dislike of specific behaviors (e.g., not a dislike of effeminate men, but of men with a soft handshake). All other information in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "John" models were hired through the freelance marketplace website Fiverr and were instructed how to pose; to wear neutral, moderately casual clothing; and to maintain a neutral expression across photographs. Each model provided me with sets of approximately 20–30 photos; photos were chosen that best represented the requested poses and which remained consistent in framing and background content across manipulations.

John vignettes was chosen to be as gender-neutral as possible (e.g., college student, likes to play cards; the latter adapted from Blashill & Powlishta, 2009b) and remained constant between conditions.

#### Measures

#### **Primary Evaluations**

To measure liking, two items were adapted from Lehavot and Lambert (2007): "What are your general impressions of John?"<sup>10</sup> (from 1 = Not at all favorable to 7 = Very favorable) and "How much do you think you would like John if you were to meet him?" (from 1 = Not at all to 7 = Very much). Scores on these two items (r = .86) were averaged to create an overall score of liking.

In addition to liking, this study included three additional measures related to social inclusion: willingness to be near, to affiliate with, and to help John. To measure participants' willingness to be near John, two items were adapted from Schope and Eliason (2004): "How willing would you be to sit next to John on a bus?" and "How willing would you be to share an office with John at work?" Two items were created to measure willingness to affiliate with John: "How willing would you be to be seen in public by strangers while hanging out with John?" and "How willing would you be to let your friends see you hanging out with John?" To measure willingness to help John, three items were loosely adapted from McGuire (1994): "If John looked like he needed a pen and you had an extra one, how willing would you be to let him borrow it?"; "If you saw John struggling to use a parking meter you're familiar with, how willing would you be to help by giving him advice?"; and "If you saw John drop \$5 without realizing it, how willing would you be to tell him or return it to him?" These helping items were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Because the evaluative scores of interest are those toward John and not the other targets, all example target evaluation items include John's name. In the actual survey, names matched the target being evaluated.

chosen to represent casual, substantial, and emergency helping behaviors, respectively, as identified by McGuire (1994). Participants responded to all seven of these items on a 7-point scale, from 1 = Very unwilling to 7 = Very willing. For each measure, applicable items were averaged to create an overall score: willingness to be near (proximity; r = .80), willingness to affiliate with (affiliation; r = .90), and willingness to help John (helping;  $\alpha = .87$ ).

All nine primary evaluation items were positively correlated with one-another at p < .001 with correlations ranging from .52 to .90. Thus, an overall composite score was created from these items to measure global evaluation toward John. Because one more item was used to measure helping than the other three primary evaluations, the averages for each evaluation composite score were used to calculate this variable ( $\alpha = .88$ ).

# **Exploratory** Evaluations

Lehavot and Lambert (2007) measured participants' perceptions of their targets' immorality; for participants who were low in sexual prejudice, masculine gay men were rated as less immoral than masculine straight men (partially supporting assumption 2). To further explore this relationship, I included a 7-point semantic differential item to measure immorality (moral– immoral). Because moral condemnation is strongly associated with feelings of disgust (e.g., see Schnall et al., 2008), I also included a 7-point semantic differential item to measure disgust (pleasant–disgusting). These two items were correlated at r = .64 (p < .001); thus, for exploratory purposes, these items were averaged to create an overall measure of moral disgust.

Gowen and Britt's (2006) participants allocated less scholarship funding for an effeminate straight target than an effeminate gay target, which may reflect a greater desire to help the latter target. Gay men and effeminate gay men are perceived as warmer but less competent than straight and masculine gay men, respectively (Brooks et al., 2019; Mize & Manago, 2018); when groups are stereotyped this way, they are more likely to be socially excluded but also to be helped (Cuddy et al., 2007). Thus, four 7-point semantic differential items were included to measure target warmth (cold–warm, friendly–unfriendly) and competence (competent–incompetent, unintelligent–intelligent). Items were reverse-scored where applicable and averaged to create overall scores of target warmth (r = .50) and competence (r = .55).

# **Perceived Expectancy Violation**

To measure perceived expectancy violation (as recommended by Biernat et al., 1999), I included three semantic differential scale items created for this study. All items were paired with 7-point scales with the adjectives on polar ends: unique–ordinary, unusual–conventional, and expected–unexpected. The first two of these items were reverse-scored and all items were averaged so that higher scores indicated more perceived violation of expectations (expectancy violation;  $\alpha = .68$ ). To obscure the study's hypotheses, these items were presented along with all other semantic differential items (see below).

To avoid demand effects, these items did not explicitly target perceived expectations based on gender (non)conforming behavior. Because of this, it may be that participants rated targets as violating expectations due to target characteristics unrelated to gender conformity. To account for this, at the very end of the survey, participants were once again presented with the John target they received earlier in the survey as well as their responses on one perceived expectancy violation item: expected–unexpected. We chose this item because it was the most face-valid item in our measure of perceived expectancy violation. Participants were asked to indicate through an open-ended item why they rated the target as they did on the expected– unexpected item. A second item followed on the next page, again paired with the John target and their response to the expected–unexpected item. This time, participants were asked to indicate through a multiple-choice item if they were primarily influenced to rate the target as they did due to the target's gender, sexual orientation, both, or neither.

### Sexual Prejudice

The 12-item Modern Homonegativity Scale for Gay Men (MHS-G; Morrison & Morrison, 2003) was used to measure modern sexual prejudice toward gay men. The MHS-G captures more modern, subtle attitudes toward gay men (e.g., "Gay men no longer need to protest for their rights"). Participants responded to all items on a 7-point scale from 1 =Strongly Disagree to 7 =Strongly Agree. Items were averaged to create an overall score of sexual prejudice toward gay men (sexual prejudice;  $\alpha = .94$ ).

# Socially Desirable Responding

Because participants may have evaluated gay or effeminate targets differently out of a desire to avoid appearing prejudiced, the 16-item Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding Short Form (BIDR-16; Hart et al., 2015) was included to measure socially desirable responding. Participants responded to all items (e.g., "I am a completely rational person.") on a 7-point scale from 1 = Strongly Disagree to 7 = Strongly Agree. Items were averaged to create an overall score of socially desirable responding ( $\alpha = .81$ ).

# Manipulation and Attention Check

One item was included as a manipulation check for gender conformity: a 7-point feminine–masculine semantic differential. Although the vignettes describing John's behavior were pretested, the photos also used to manipulate masculinity and effeminacy were not included in pretesting. Thus, it was important to ensure that masculine and effeminate targets were still perceived as masculine and feminine, respectively. Following completion of the semantic differential items, participants were asked to recall and report the target's age, race, occupation, and sexual orientation through multiple-choice items. For example, the sexual orientation item asks, "What is John's sexual orientation?"; response options include, straight, gay, bisexual, pansexual, asexual. This item was intended to serve as a manipulation check for sexual orientation. The primary purpose of the additional recall items were to further obscure the study's hypotheses and avoid potential demand effects

Because participants may have interpreted John's stated sexual orientation differently depending on John's gender expression, we included a follow-up item after the main survey that asked participants, "Which statement best represents your initial thoughts about this person's listed sexual orientation?" Participants responded on a 5-point scale from 1 = I was certain it was UNTRUE to 5 = I was certain it was TRUE.

# Results

#### **Preliminary Analyses**

Preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure there were no violations of test assumptions. An examination of histograms for all continuous variables revealed that scores for proximity, affiliation, helping, and global evaluation were negatively skewed. Skewness and kurtosis coefficients were within -1 and 1 for proximity, affiliation, and global evaluation, while kurtosis was within this range for helping; this indicates the distributions for these variables were suitably normal. However, skewness for helping was -1.32. I performed data transformations to determine which (if any) best reduced the absolute value of skewness for helping; a reflected square root transformation reduced this value to .86. This transformed variable was retained for all applicable analyses.

To provide evidence that the gender conformity manipulation was effective, an independent samples t-test was conducted to compare feminine-masculine ratings of effeminate and masculine targets. Masculine John (M = 4.79, SD = 1.41) was rated as significantly more masculine than effeminate John (M = 3.78, SD = 1.31, t(194) = -5.21, p < .001). Because evaluations of masculinity are likely to differ as a function of both gender expression and stated sexual orientation, a two-way ANOVA was also performed where John's sexual orientation (1 =gay, 0 = straight), John's gender expression (1 = effeminate, 0 = masculine), and the interaction between these two variables were entered as predictors and the feminine-masculine semantic differential item was entered as the outcome. John's sexual orientation (F[1,196] = 16.82, p < 16.82, p.001, partial  $\eta^2 = .08$ ), John's gender expression (*F*[1,196] = 31.73, *p* < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .14$ ), and the interaction between these (F[1,196] = 13.13, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .06$ ) all significantly predicted masculinity ratings. Straight/masculine John (M = 5.50, SD = 1.20) was perceived as most masculine, followed by gay/masculine John (M = 4.10, SD = 1.25), straight/effeminate John (M = 3.82, SD = 1.40), and gay/effeminate John (M = 3.73, SD = 1.21). While masculine John was perceived as more masculine regardless of his sexual orientation, there was a greater difference in masculinity ratings between masculine and effeminate John when he was straight. Thus, evaluations of John's masculinity were influenced by his gender expression as well as his sexual orientation.

Images and vignettes for each target were presented on each target evaluation page except for the final page, on which participants were asked to recall information. Including these recall items for the first two targets (Marcus, Susan) served the purpose of motivating participants to pay attention to target information before they reached the target of interest (John). Any participants who were attending to the photos and vignettes should have been able to easily identify John's race (White) and sexual orientation (straight or gay, depending on condition). However, the sexual orientation question ("What is John's sexual orientation?") may have been interpreted differently by participants depending on their condition—for example, those who were presented with an effeminate, straight John may have believed the question was asking about John's "actual," but not listed, sexual orientation. For this reason, only identification of John's race was retained as an attention check item; one participant who failed to correctly identify John's race was removed from analysis. Notably, only two additional participants would have been excluded from analysis if we retained sexual orientation as an attention check item.

Correlations between all primary study variables were examined (see Table 4). Sexual prejudice scores were significantly associated with all judgment domains at p < .001: negatively with liking (r = -.38), proximity (-.37), affiliation (-.40), helping (-.29), global evaluation (-.41), warmth (-.20), and competence (-.34); and positively with disgust (.33), immorality (.37), and moral disgust (.39). However, as could be expected, correlations between sexual prejudice and judgment domains differed by condition. For example, liking was uncorrelated with sexual prejudice in the straight/masculine condition (r = -.23, p = .10), but negatively correlated in the gay/masculine (r = -.42, p = .002), straight/effeminate (-.51, p < .001), and gay/effeminate conditions (-.34, p = .023). This general pattern, where sexual prejudice is less strongly correlated with variables in the straight/masculine condition than in the other three conditions, is also apparent for proximity, warmth, immorality, disgust, and moral disgust. Because these relationships differ by condition and because past research (e.g., Lehavot & Lambert, 2007) has
found differences in the evaluation of targets based on sexual prejudice, sexual prejudice was entered as a covariate in all following analyses that included judgment domains.<sup>11</sup>

Socially desirable responding scores correlated only with warmth (r = .19, p = .008) and sexual prejudice scores (r = .18, p = .011). These correlations were also separately examined by condition. In the straight/masculine condition, socially desirable responding was positively associated with warmth (r = .43, p = .002). In the gay/effeminate condition, socially desirable responding scores were positively associated with affiliation (r = .31, p = .04) and warmth (r = .32, p = .037). Socially desirable responding was uncorrelated with all judgment domains in the remaining conditions. Thus, socially desirable responding was not entered as a covariate in any of the following models.

### **Hypothesis Testing**

To test the hypotheses  $H_{Ia}$  (effeminate straight men should be evaluated more negatively than effeminate gay men),  $H_{2a}$  (masculine straight men should be evaluated more negatively than masculine gay men), and  $H_3$  (masculine straight men should be evaluated more positively than masculine gay men), five two-way ANCOVA analyses were conducted where each of the four judgment domains (liking, proximity, affiliation, helping) and the global evaluation scores were entered as the outcome variable and sexual prejudice scores were entered as a covariate. In each model, John's sexual orientation (1 = gay, 0 = straight), John's gender expression (1 = feminine, 0 = masculine), and the interaction between John's sexual orientation and gender expression were included as the predictors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The sexual prejudice measure was included for exploratory purposes and was not initially intended to be used as a covariate. To avoid demand effects, sexual prejudice was measured after our manipulation; this means that the target presented to participants may have influenced participants' scores on this variable, rendering it unsuitable as a covariate. To examine this, a two-way ANOVA was conducted where John's sexual orientation, John's gender expression, and the interaction between these two were entered as predictors and sexual prejudices scores as the outcome. John's sexual orientation (p = .125), gender expression (p = .298), and the interaction between these (p = .759) did not significantly predict sexual prejudice.

For the liking model, sexual prejudice (F[1,195 = 57.52, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .15$ ) and the interaction between John's gender expression and John's sexual orientation (F[1,233] =11.99, p = .008, partial  $\eta^2 = .04$ ) were significant. Simple main effects were examined to explore this interaction. When targets were effeminate, straight John (estimated marginal mean [*EMM*] = 4.44) was evaluated more negatively than gay John (*EMM* = 4.87); however, this comparison was nonsignificant (p = .113). When targets were masculine, straight John (*EMM* = 4.97) was evaluated more positively than gay John (*EMM* = 4.41, p = .031), providing support for  $H_3$  over  $H_{2a}$  (see Figure 1).

For the proximity model, sexual prejudice (F[1,195] = 66.32, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .15$ ) and the interaction between Johns' gender expression and John's sexual orientation (F[1,195] = 8.16, p = .045, partial  $\eta^2 = .02$ ) were significant. Once again, when targets were effeminate, straight men (EMM = 5.06) were evaluated more negatively than gay men (EMM = 5.24), but this comparison was nonsignificant (p = .525). When targets were masculine, straight men (EMM = 5.40) were evaluated significantly more positively than gay men (EMM = 4.77, p = .027; see Figure 2).

For the global evaluation model, sexual prejudice  $(F[1,194^{12}] = 44.80, p < .001, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = .19)$  and the interaction between Johns' gender expression and John's sexual orientation  $(F[1,194] = 4.48, p = .036, \text{ partial } \eta^2 = .02)$  were significant. As with the previous two models, when targets were effeminate, straight men (EMM = 5.01) were evaluated more negatively than gay men (EMM = 5.27), but when targets were masculine, straight men (EMM = 5.43) were evaluated more positively than gay men (EMM = 5.07; see Figure 3). However, neither of these comparisons were significant (p = .102 and p = .178, respectively).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Using listwise deletion removed one participant with missing data for the helping and global evaluation variables.

For the remaining two models, sexual prejudice was the only significant predictor of affiliation (F[1,195] = 37.98, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .17$ ) and helping (F[1,194] = 18.13, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .09$ ). However, estimated marginal means for these models follow a similar pattern such that the straight/effeminate John was evaluated more negatively than the gay/effeminate John, while the straight/masculine John was evaluated more positively than the gay/masculine John (see Table 5). For the full results for all ANCOVA models, see Table 6.

To test the remaining hypotheses ( $H_{1b}$ ,  $H_{2b}$ ,  $H_4$ ), five moderated multiple mediation analyses were performed for each of the four primary judgment domains (liking, proximity, affiliation, helping) and the global evaluation scores through the PROCESS macro (model 59, 10,000 bootstrapping resamples; Hayes, 2017) for R. In each model, John's sexual orientation (1 = gay, 0 = straight) was entered as the predictor, expectancy violation as the mediator, and sexual prejudice as a covariate. John's gender expression (1 = effeminate, 0 = masculine) was entered as a moderator for all paths.

John's sexual orientation (b = 1.05, p < .001, 95% CI [0.63, 1.48]), John's gender expression (b = .69, p = .002, 95% CI [0.26, 1.12]), and the interaction between these (b = -.72, p = .023, 95% CI [-1.33, -0.10]) predicted perceived expectancy violation (a path; overall model, F(4,190) = 7.97, p < .001,  $R^2 = .14$ ). Gay John was perceived as more unexpected (*EMM*<sub>masculine</sub> = 4.15, *EMM*<sub>effeminate</sub> = 4.12) than straight John (*EMM*<sub>masculine</sub> = 3.09, *EMM*<sub>effeminate</sub> = 3.78) regardless of gender expression, contradicting  $H_{1b}$ . Effeminate John was also perceived as more unexpected than masculine John regardless of sexual orientation. However, the difference in perceived expectancy violation was greater between the two gender expression conditions when John was straight than when John was gay (see Figure 4). Expectancy violation (b paths) did not predict liking (p = .972), proximity (p = .760), affiliation (p = .475), helping (p = .544), or global evaluation (p = .99) regardless of gender expression. The 95% confidence intervals for the indices of moderated mediation for all models contained zero; thus, there is no evidence for moderated mediation for any of the five models. Expectancy violation was not a mediator of the relationship between sexual orientation and any of the five judgment domains, regardless of gender expression, meaning that hypothesis *H*<sub>4</sub> was also unsupported. For the moderated mediation results for the liking model, see Table 7 and Figure 5.<sup>13</sup>

#### **Exploratory Analyses**

### **Exploring Evaluations Without a Covariate**

For exploratory purposes, the analyses used to test hypotheses  $H_{1a}$ ,  $H_{2a}$ , and  $H_3$  were performed again, but this time without sexual prejudice entered as a covariate (i.e., five two-way ANOVAs). For the liking model, the interaction between John's sexual orientation and John's gender expression was significant, F(1,195) = 4.36, p = .037, partial  $\eta 2 = .02$ . Means followed a similar pattern as the liking model that included sexual prejudice as a covariate; when targets were effeminate, straight John (M = 4.35, SD = 1.53) was evaluated more negatively than gay John (M = 4.79, SD = 1.49), but when targets were masculine, straight John (M = 4.94, SD =1.36) was evaluated more positively than gay John (M = 4.52, SD = 1.36). However, an examination of simple main effects revealed that no cell comparisons were significant. There were no significant predictors in the remaining four models (proximity, affiliation, helping,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> When participants whose identities include sexual orientations other than straight are included for primary analyses, results follow similar overall patterns as when the sample is limited to only straight participants. However, for the ANCOVA models, the interaction between John's sexual orientation and John's gender expression only significantly predicts (at p < .05) liking.

global evaluation). Thus, there was no support for any hypotheses when sexual prejudice was not included in the models as a covariate.

#### **Expectancy** Violation

It is possible that expectancy violation did not predict any of the five judgment domains because the expectancy violation items did not explicitly mention the target's sexual orientation or gender expression. Thus, it may be that participants were not thinking of these demographics when responding to the items. To assess this, I examined data for the two items where participants indicated why they rated the target as they did on the expected–unexpected item. If participants did not generally indicate that John's gender expression, sexual orientation, or the combination of these influenced their responses to this item, then that may indicate that the expectancy violation items poorly assessed their intended construct. If expectancy violation influenced more negative evaluations of straight/effeminate John than gay/effeminate John, as predicted, then I would particularly expect participants in the straight/effeminate condition to endorse these characteristics through these two items.

The first of these items was open-ended. Responses were coded by two researchers (the author and a research assistant) to determine whether participants indicated their expected– unexpected rating was influenced by John's behavior, sexual orientation, or gender. Three dichotomous variables were created for each characteristic, where 1 = characteristic was mentioned in response and 0 = characteristic was unmentioned<sup>14</sup>. Inter-rater reliability was assessed with Cohen's  $\kappa$ ; agreement was high for all characteristics (behavior [ $\kappa = .73$ ], sexual orientation [.96], and gender [.89]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For behavior, a 1 indicated mention of any of John's manipulated vignette or photo behaviors (e.g., the way he was standing) or any words such as "behavior" or "act." For sexual orientation, a 1 indicated mention of John as "gay" or "straight" or words such as "sexual orientation" or "sexuality." For gender, a 1 indicated mention of the target as a "man" or "male" or words such as "gender" or "sex").

Overall, as an explanation for their rating on the expected–unexpected item, 25% of participants mentioned John's behavior, 18.9% mentioned his sexual orientation, and 21.9% mentioned his gender. Percentages were examined by condition for those who rated John above the midpoint (> 4) on this item, indicating an evaluation of John as unexpected. Participants who viewed John as unexpected comprised only 28.1% of the overall sample (n = 55). Of these, 8 belonged to the masculine/straight condition, 17 to the masculine/gay condition, 19 to the effeminate/straight condition, and 20 to the effeminate/gay condition. Forty percent of these 55 participants mentioned John's behaviors, 36.4% mentioned his sexual orientation, and 29.1% mentioned his gender. These characteristics were mentioned by at least half of participants in a condition only once: four of eight participants in the masculine/straight condition mentioned John's behavior as an explanation for their rating of John as unexpected.

Overall, it seems that John's gender, sexual orientation, or the interaction between these did not clearly drive a majority of participants' evaluations of him as unexpected. Examination of responses to this open-ended item among those in the masculine/gay, effeminate/straight, and effeminate/gay conditions did not provide much insight into which other characteristics may have informed participants evaluations. For example, some participants mentioned components that were constant across conditions like John's job ("I typically thought that people who are more nerdy tend to work in offices") or hobbies ("Due to that he likes to play cards, which many people do not often do"), but many provided vague responses ("He seemed unique and not like an everyday person"; "I just thought John seemed unpredictable and unique"). No pattern was evident from these data that would indicate any other single characteristic was consistently influencing evaluations of John as unexpected.

Responses were also examined for the follow-up multiple-choice item which asked if participants rated John as they did on the expected–unexpected item because of his gender, sexual orientation, both, or neither. Cross-tabulations were examined between participant condition (straight/masculine, gay/masculine, straight/effeminate, gay/effeminate) and the expected–unexpected multiple-choice follow-up item, where participants indicated whether their responses to this item were influenced by the target's gender, sexual orientation, both, or neither. Four cells contained counts less than five, so a chi-squared test was not performed on these variables. A majority of participants chose neither (62.2%); the remaining participants chose sexual orientation (17.3%), both (16.8%), and gender (3.6%). A majority of participants in the straight/masculine (72%), straight/effeminate (72%), and gay/effeminate (55.6%) indicated neither John's sexual orientation nor gender influenced their response to the expected– unexpected item; in the gay/masculine condition, just under half (49%) chose this option.

A new variable was created where *neither* was coded as 0 and any other response (gender, sexual orientation, both) were coded as 1; when cross-tabulated with condition, these variables now met the assumption for minimum cell count. A chi-squared test for independence was significant,  $\chi^2(3, n = 196) = 8.70$ , p = .034. Of participants who indicated their responses to the expected–unexpected question were influenced by John's sexual orientation, gender, or both, 18.9% were assigned to the straight/masculine condition, 35.1% to the gay/masculine condition, 18.9% to the straight/effeminate condition, and 27% to the gay/effeminate condition.

A second variable was created where responses to the expected–unexpected semantic differential item were dichotomized into responses above the midpoint (> 4; "unexpected") and responses at or below the midpoint. A chi-squared test for independence between this variable and condition was nonsignificant. Of participants who responded above the midpoint on the

expected–unexpected semantic differential item (n = 55), only 14.5% were assigned to the straight/masculine condition, while 27.3% were assigned to the gay/masculine condition, 27.3% to the straight/effeminate condition, and 30.9% to the gay/effeminate condition. Overall, patterns indicate that there were differences by condition—particularly between the straight/masculine and remaining conditions—but participants reported being largely uninfluenced by John's sexual orientation or gender when responding to the expected–unexpected item.

### Certainty of John's Sexual Orientation

The vast majority of participants retained for analysis correctly identified John's stated sexual orientation<sup>15</sup> (99%). However, there is still a risk that participants may have interpreted John's sexual orientation as incorrect. Participant responses were examined by condition to the follow-up item that assessed participant's certainty that John's sexual orientation was true. A one-way ANOVA was conducted with condition as the predictor and the sexual orientation certainty variable as the outcome. The overall model was significant, F = 9.56, p < .001. Posthoc comparisons were conducted with Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test. Participants were less confident in John's stated sexual orientation in the straight/effeminate condition (M = 2.96, SD = 1.09) compared to all other conditions: straight/masculine (M = 3.88, SD = 0.96, p < .001), gay/masculine (M = 3.67, SD = 0.95, p = .002), and gay/effeminate (M = 3.84, SD = 0.89, p < .001). No other comparisons were significant. In other words, participants were significantly less likely to feel certain that John's sexual orientation was true when John was straight but effeminate than any other combination of sexual orientation and gender expression.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Two participants incorrectly identified John's sexual orientation, one from the straight/effeminate condition and one from the gay/effeminate condition.

### Suspicion Check

A single open-ended item was included as a suspicion check after all evaluations of John but before follow-up measures (i.e., sexual prejudice, socially desirable responding) and demographics. Participants were asked to indicate what they thought the purpose of the study was. Responses to this item were examined to determine how well the study avoided demand effects. Only one participant (straight/effeminate condition) mentioned effeminacy, masculinity or femininity, or specific gender expression manipulation behaviors included in the vignette ("[. . .] for example the last one John being described somewhat effeminately").

Twenty-three participants mentioned sexual orientation in their responses to this item. However, 19 of these mentioned sexual orientation along with other demographics (e.g., "How we perceive people based on sexuality, race, age, etc."). Four participants either mentioned sexual orientation and no other demographics (e.g., "views on gays") or explicitly mentioned gay or straight sexual orientation in their responses (e.g., "I'm assuming this study was to gauge people's attitudes towards different types of people [for example some were straight and one was gay]."). Three of these participants were assigned to the gay/effeminate condition and one to the gay/masculine condition. Overall, responses to this item do not suggest many participants were aware of the study's hypotheses.

### Moral Disgust

A two-way ANCOVA was conducted with John's sexual orientation, John's gender expression, and the interaction between these entered as the predictor variables; moral disgust as the outcome variable; and sexual prejudice as a covariate. Sexual prejudice was the only significant predictor of moral disgust, F[1,195] = 36.45, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .16$ . A second twoway ANCOVA was conducted where the immorality item was instead the outcome variable. Sexual prejudice (F[1,195] = 33.37, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .15$ ) and John's sexual orientation (F =4.156, p = .043, partial  $\eta^2 = .02$ ) both predicted immorality ratings. Gay John (EMM = 3.52, SD = 1.35) was rated as more immoral than Straight John (EMM = 3.18, SD = 1.17) regardless of gender expression.

### Warmth and Competence

Measures of warmth and competence were included for exploratory reasons; research has found that gay men and effeminate gay men are perceived as warmer but less competent than straight men and masculine gay men, respectively (Brooks et al., 2019; Mize & Manago, 2018). An additional two 2-way ANCOVAs were conducted with John's warmth and competence entered as outcome variables. For each model, John's sexual orientation, gender expression, and the interaction between these were entered as the predictor variables and sexual prejudice was entered as a covariate. For the warmth model, only John's gender expression (F[1, 195] = 10.68, p = .003, partial  $\eta^2 = .05$ ) and sexual prejudice (F[1, 195] = 10.39, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .05$ ) were significant predictors. For the competence model, only sexual prejudice (F[1, 195] = 30.51, p <.001, partial  $\eta^2 = .12$ ) was a significant predictor. Thus, there is no evidence that gay men were perceived as warmer but less competent than straight men or that effeminate gay men were perceived as warmer and less competent than masculine gay men; only that effeminate men were perceived as warmer than masculine men.

#### Discussion

The purpose of this study was to investigate how straight men evaluate other men who differ in gender expression (masculine or effeminate) and sexual orientation (straight or gay). Specifically, this study was informed by Expectancy Violation Theory (EVT) and the Black Sheep Effect (BSE). While the assumptions informed by these two theories receive little support from the sexual prejudice literature (see Table 1), studies in this area may have used methodologies that were susceptible to demand effects or were otherwise unsuitable for testing this study's primary research question. Thus, a study was warranted that looked at these relationships through methodology designed to mitigate demand effects, measure expectancy violation and modern sexual prejudice, and focus on a potentially more-salient marker of gender expression (nonverbal behavior). Also included in this study were multiple judgment domains.

#### **Evidence for the Assumptions Informed by EVT and the BSE**

Taken together, EVT and the BSE suggest that straight men should evaluate an effeminate straight man more negatively than an effeminate gay man because the former negatively violated expectations (assumption 1). However, participants did not like effeminate/straight John less, nor were they less willing to be near him, affiliate with him, or help him than effeminate/gay John. Thus,  $H_{Ia}$  (informed by assumption 1) was unsupported.

Additionally, EVT suggests that a masculine gay man should be evaluated more positively than a masculine straight man because the former positively violated expectations (assumption 2), while the BSE suggests that straight men should evaluate a masculine straight man more positively than a masculine gay man because the former shares an ingroup (assumption 3). These opposing assumptions were tested. Participants liked masculine/straight John more and were more willing to be near him than masculine/gay John. Although nonsignificant, this pattern—where masculine/straight John was evaluated more positively than masculine/gay John—was also evident for global evaluation of John and willingness to affiliate with and help him. Thus, there was support for  $H_3$  (informed by assumption 3) but not  $H_{2a}$ (assumption 2); when he was masculine, straight men evaluated a straight man more positively than a gay man. While this result is contrary to the second assumption informed by EVT, this may be because participants did not perceive masculine behavior as unexpected for gay men. Over four decades ago<sup>16</sup>, Laner and Laner's (1979) participants estimated that only 16-25% of gay men are effeminate and 46-55% are normatively masculine. Thus, masculine/gay John may not have clearly violated expectations, which is necessary to observe EVT effects (Biernat et al., 1999). Instead, it may be that John's ingroup status (when he was straight) was more salient to participants, resulting in more positive evaluations as predicted by the BSE.

Because effeminacy is associated with gay but not straight men (e.g., Parmenter et al., 2019), then behaving effeminately should be perceived as a violation of expectations for straight men. If evaluations of John were driven by a violation of expectations, then effeminate/straight John should have been perceived as more unexpected than effeminate/gay John, who should not have violated gender norms due to his sexual orientation. However, participants reported that effeminate/gay John was more unexpected than effeminate/straight John, meaning that  $H_{1b}$  was not supported. Additionally, because masculine/gay John positively violated gender norms while masculine/straight John did not violate gender norms in either direction, EVT suggests that masculine/gay John should be perceived as more unexpected. As predicted, masculine John was perceived as more unexpected when he was gay than when he was straight, supporting  $H_{2b}$ . However, perceived expectancy violation was not significantly associated with any of the primary evaluations and did not mediate the relationship between sexual orientation and evaluations for masculine or effeminate men. Thus,  $H_4$  was unsupported; while effeminate/straight John was evaluated more negatively than effeminate/gay John and masculine/gay John was evaluated more positively than masculine/straight John, there is no indication that these results were because targets violated participants' expectations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> I have been unable to find a more-recent study examining people's perceptions of the prevalence of effeminate or gender-conforming gay men.

This may be because the measure of expectancy violation used in this study did not explicitly mention the target's sexual orientation or gender expression to avoid demand effects. This is counter to Biernat et al. (1999), who specifically asked participants whether their confederate partner's actual performance during a game violated participants' expectations about how their partner would perform. Thus, my participants may have evaluated whether targets violating expectations or not due to target characteristics unrelated to gender expression or sexual orientation. In this study, when asked to indicate why they rated John as they did on the unexpected–expected semantic differential item, a majority of participants indicated that they were not influenced by John's sexual orientation or gender expression across three of the four conditions (straight/masculine, straight/effeminate, gay/effeminate); in the fourth condition (gay/masculine), this was reported by just under half of participants. However, an examination of open-ended data did not suggest there was a dominant alternative explanation for participants' evaluations of John as unexpected. Overall, it seems that John's sexual orientation or gender were the characteristics that most influenced participants' ratings of John as unexpected, but these characteristics did not seem to influence a majority of participants' responses.

It may also be that the vignette and photo manipulations for this study were too subtle. Effeminate John, while perceived as less masculine than masculine John, may not have been perceived as effeminate enough to be unexpected for participants, regardless of John's sexual orientation. The photo manipulations may have been particularly subtle; for the effeminate John manipulations, models were instructed to sit with legs crossed or stand with arms and legs crossed (see Appendix C). It may be that participants did not interpret these poses as effeminate.

Alternatively, it may simply be that the BSE is solely influencing this study's results and that expectancy violation did not influence participant's evaluations of straight/effeminate John.

Overall, gender and sexual orientation did interact to influence evaluations of John, but not as predicted by EVT when John was masculine. Additionally, while this study's results supported assumption 1, this assumption was informed by not just EVT, but also the BSE; straight/effeminate John may have been liked less than gay/effeminate John only because the former violated ingroup norms. However, as I did not include a measure of identification as a man or a straight man, I cannot examine how these evaluations differ as a function of the strength of these identities.

#### **Contribution to the Sexual Prejudice Literature**

While it is still unclear how evaluations of this study's targets were influenced by expectancy violation, ingroup bias, or ingroup deviancy, this study adds to the literature that examines how evaluations of men differ as a function of their sexual orientation and gender expression. When targets were masculine, this study's participants liked a gay man less and were less willing to be near him than a straight man. Indeed, mean scores for gay/masculine John were lower across all evaluations than for any other target. It may be that participants liked gay/masculine John less because his masculine behavior, while not unexpected, was perceived as inauthentic given his sexual orientation. The masculine vignette behaviors chosen for this study (e.g., swaggering shoulders, speaking with a deep voice) may have been perceived by participants as exaggeratedly masculine. When masculine John was gay, he may have been perceived as "overcompensating" for his sexual orientation, leading to participants holding more negative attitudes toward him.

The finding that a straight man was evaluated more positively than a gay man when both are masculine is contrary to the reviewed literature; in none of the studies did they report a significant difference between this study's targets of interest on measures of liking. However,

43

there were differences on other judgment domains. For example, Gowen and Britt's (2006) participants allocated more scholarship funding to an effeminate gay man over an effeminate straight man. Allocating more scholarship funding may better represent a greater desire to help these targets than their liking of them; however, in this study, there was no difference in participants' willingness to help targets regardless of sexual orientation and gender expression. Lehavot and Lambert (2007) had participants evaluate targets on their immorality. When targets were effeminate, participants high (but not low) in sexual prejudice evaluated the gay man as more immoral than the straight man. However, when targets were masculine, low (but not high) prejudice participants rated the straight man as more immoral than gay man. This study included a measure of immorality for exploratory purposes, but gay targets were evaluated as more immoral than straight targets regardless of gender expression. Because moral condemnation is associated with feelings of disgust (e.g., Schnall et al., 2008), this study also included an item to measure disgust toward John. Responses on this item were combined with morality ratings to create an overall measure of moral disgust. Only sexual prejudice predicted this variable; this aligns with research that has found that disgust sensitivity is associated with negative attitudes toward gay men (Hodson et al., 2013; Olatunji, 2008).

Overall, this study's results do not match that of the reviewed sexual prejudice literature; however, there is also no consensus within this literature on how straight men or gay men are evaluated differently when they are masculine and when they are effeminate (see Table 1). Additionally, any discrepancies between these studies' results and mine may be explained by differences in design—specifically, that this study was designed to avoid demand effects which may have been present in the reviewed studies (e.g., by using a within-subjects design).

### **Exploratory Results**

This study included additional measures of warmth and competence for exploratory purposes. Other researchers have reported that gay men and effeminate gay men were perceived as warmer but less competent than straight and masculine men, respectively (Brooks et al., 2019; Mize & Manago, 2018). Effeminate John was perceived as warmer than masculine John, but gay John was not perceived as warmer than straight John. Additionally, neither gender expression nor sexual orientation predicted competency evaluations of John.

Exploratory results that have implications for this study's assumptions were that all but two participants correctly identified John's listed sexual orientation, yet many participants were not confident that John's stated sexual orientation was true. This suggests that the question assessing recall of the target's sexual orientation ("What is John's sexual orientation?") was interpreted by many participants as asking about John's stated—but not actual— sexual orientation. Scores on this item differed by condition; participants were less confident that John's sexual orientation was true when he was straight and effeminate than any other combination of sexual orientation and gender expression. This may suggest that a confound was introduced through the manipulation of these two characteristics; however, such a confound would be difficult to avoid in an experimental design, since effeminacy is strongly associated with gay men. Disbelief about a straight man's sexual orientation may also be a key influencer of negative evaluations toward effeminate straight men. It may be that someone would perceive a straight/effeminate man as a "closeted" gay man and thus dishonest or inauthentic, and this in turn may result in more negative evaluations toward this target compared to one who is effeminate but also gay. Regardless of the potential for a confound in this study's design, results

indicated that straight/effeminate John was not evaluated significantly more negatively than gay/effeminate John.

#### **Limitations and Future Directions**

This study was limited in several ways. First, the items for this study's measure of perceived expectancy violation did not explicitly mention John's sexual orientation or gender expression. As a result, participants' responses to these items may have been influenced by other characteristics from John's vignette or photo (e.g., his job or clothing). While there may be a concern that the inclusion of questions directly calling participants' attention to gender expression may introduce demand effects, they would also allow one to assess specifically whether and how sexual orientation and gender expression influence perceptions of a target's expectancy violation. The inclusion of items that explicitly assess expectancy violation for target demographics other than sexual orientation (e.g., race, age) may allow researchers to collect this data while still mitigating demand effects.

Additionally, the evaluative items used in this study were on unipolar scales—for example, participants indicated how much they liked John from "Not at all" to "Very much." Using unipolar scales meant that participants were not able to indicate that they, for example, very much disliked (vs. didn't much like) John or were willing to harm (vs. not help) him. The use of bipolar scales for evaluative items may allow researchers to capture more attitudinal variance. Alternatively, additional items that measure opposing constructs could be added—for example, items assessing how much participants dislike targets in addition to those that assess how much they like them.

Furthermore, while this study was informed in-part by the BSE, I did not include a measure of identification as a man or a straight man to simplify the research design. This study's

46

results provide some support for the BSE, but without such a measure, I cannot determine if and how ingroup bias or ingroup deviancy may have influenced evaluations of John. Future studies should include a measure of group identification (e.g., Eidelman & Biernat, 2003) to parse these relationships. As before, to mitigate demand effects, this measure of group identification may include items that assess strength of participants' identities other than sexual orientation or gender (e.g., race).

Finally, sexual prejudice was entered as a covariate for all of this study's primary analyses. To avoid demand effects, this measure was administered after participants finished evaluating John, and thus after this study's manipulations. While there were no significant differences by John's sexual orientation or gender expression on this variable, future studies that seek to use sexual prejudice as a covariate should, when possible, include this measure before any manipulations—ideally separated in time from the main experiment to avoid signaling to participants the purpose of the study.

#### Conclusion

Despite this study's limitations, it also had several strengths. First, it focused on an understudied population: effeminate straight men. While other studies have included effeminate straight male targets, their primary focus was to examine how effeminacy affects evaluations of gay men. Additionally, many of these studies may have been susceptible to demand effects. This study was designed to avoid demand effects by using a between-subjects design, including filler targets who differed on characteristics other than those of interest (e.g., age, race), and included neutral information (e.g., likes to play cards) for all targets in addition to information about their sexual orientation and gender expression. This study also included a measure of modern sexual prejudice to assess more subtle prejudiced attitudes and focused on nonverbal behavior as the single gender conformity domain, which should be more salient to participants than other domains (e.g., appearance). Finally, it examined not only liking as a judgment domain, but also those with greater real-world implications: willingness to be physically near, affiliate with, or help.

While this study cannot clarify the already discordant results in literature that examined evaluations of masculine or effeminate straight or gay men, these results suggest that straight men may evaluate a masculine gay man more negatively than a masculine straight man. Additionally, they may desire more physical distance from the masculine gay man. However, it is important to note that these results disappeared when sexual prejudice was not included as a covariate in this study's statistical models. While there was a significant interaction between John's sexual orientation and John's gender expression and mean patterns indicated that straight/masculine John was liked more than gay/masculine John, this difference was nonsignificant when sexual prejudice was not entered into the statistical models as a covariate. Thus, this study's results are only suggestive. More research is necessary to clarify if and how gay and straight men are differentially evaluated when they are masculine or effeminate. Additionally, future research should seek to further determine the means through which differential evaluations might occur—whether through violation of stereotype expectancies, ingroup deviancy, or some other mechanism.

# Summary of Reviewed Literature

5 0						
Citation	Sample	SP Measure	GC Domains	Evaluation Domain <sup>a</sup>	Assumption 1	Assumption 2
Storms, 1978	258 college students (130 male) <sup>b</sup>	None	College major, appearance, activity	Liking	Yes	No
Laner & Laner, 1979	206 male college students <sup>c</sup>	None	College major, appearance, activity	Liking	No	No
Gowen & Britt, 2006	120 college students	ATLG	Nonverbal behavior	College admission	ns	ns
··· <b>,</b>	$(\sim 49 \text{ male})^d$			Scholarship funding	Yes	No
				Social distance	Yes	No
Horn, 2007	103 male 10 <sup>th</sup> & 12 <sup>th</sup> graders <sup>c</sup>	None	Appearance, activity	Acceptability	<i>No</i> (activities) <i>No</i> (appearance)	No
Lehavot & Lambert, 2007	213 college students (71 male) <sup>b</sup>	ATLG	Activity	Liking	No (high SP) Yes (low SP)	No (high SP) Yes (low SP)
2007	(/T mate)			Immorality	<b>No</b> (high SP) <i>Yes</i> (low SP)	<i>No</i> (high SP) <b>Yes</b> (low SP)
Blashill & Powlishta,	177 male college students <sup>c</sup>	ATLG	Occupation, activity,	Liking	ns	ns
2009b			trait	Hang out with	ns	ns
				Willing to work with on task	ns	ns

Citation	Sample	SP Measure	GC Domains	Evaluation Domain <sup>a</sup>	Assumption 1	Assumption 2
Blashill & Powlishta.	305 male college students <sup>c</sup>	Unknown <sup>e</sup>	Appearance, activity.	Liking	ns	ns
2012	5		trait	Willing to work with on task	ns	ns
				Psychological adjustment	ns	ns

*Note.* SP = sexual prejudice. GC = gender conformity. ATLG = the Attitudes toward Lesbians and Gay Men scale (Herek, 1988). Assumption 1 = results supported more positive evaluations for gay/effeminate over straight/effeminate targets. Assumption 2 = results supported more positive evaluation for gay/masculine over gay/masculine targets. Assumption 3 is the inverse of assumption 2; thus, support for this assumption is indicated by a "No" in the Assumption 2 column. Bolding indicates a significant difference between groups, while italics indicate a non-significant difference or unreported significance. Where *ns* is present, it means there were no significant differences between groups and group means were unreported.

<sup>a</sup>Not all dependent variables from each study were included in this table—for example, Blashill and Powlishta (2009b) also had participants rate targets' intelligence and how boring they were. <sup>b</sup>Study sample included male and female participants, but results did not significantly differ by participant gender. <sup>c</sup>Study sample included male and female participants, but I only reviewed and included results for men. <sup>d</sup>Study sample included male and female participants, but I only reviewed and included results for men. <sup>d</sup>Study sample included male and female participants, but did not report which measure they used.

Assumptions, Associated Hypotheses, Informing Theories, and Suggested Relationships

Assumption	Hypothesis	According to	When men are	Then
1	$H_{1a}$	EVT & BSE	Effeminate	Straight men should be evaluated more <b>negatively</b> than gay men
2	$H_{2a}$	EVT	Masculine	Straight men should be evaluated more <b>negatively</b> than gay men
3	$H_3$	BSE	Masculine	Straight men should be evaluated more <b>positively</b> than gay men

# Sample Demographics (n = 196)

		n	%
Ethnicity			
White or Caucasia	an	94	48.0
Asian or Pacific I	slander	43	21.9
Black or African	American	28	14.3
Hispanic or Latin	0	17	8.7
Multiracial		13	6.6
Not listed		1	0.5
<b>Religious</b> Affiliation			
Christian		77	39.9
Agnostic		44	22.4
Atheist		35	17.9
Buddhist		8	4.1
Jewish		8	4.1
Muslim		6	3.1
Hindu		4	2.0
Not listed		14	7.1
Age			
M	21.09		
SD	1.77		
Range	18–24		

Bivariate Correlations Between and Descriptive Statistics for Primary Variables of Interest

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1. Liking	_												
2. Proximity	0.78 <sup>§</sup>	_											
3. Affiliation	0.79 <sup>§</sup>	0.81 <sup>§</sup>	_										
4. Helping	0.43 <sup>§</sup>	0.48 <sup>§</sup>	0.47 <sup>§</sup>	_									
5. Global Evaluation	$0.88^{\$}$	0.92 <sup>§</sup>	0.90 <sup>§</sup>	0.61 <sup>§</sup>	_								
6. Unexpected	-0.07	-0.12	-0.19‡	-0.05	-0.14 <sup>†</sup>	_							
7. Warmth	0.53 <sup>§</sup>	0.56 <sup>§</sup>	0.45 <sup>§</sup>	0.34 <sup>§</sup>	0.57 <sup>§</sup>	-0.03	_						
8. Competence	0.54 <sup>§</sup>	0.56 <sup>§</sup>	0.50 <sup>§</sup>	0.37 <sup>§</sup>	0.58 <sup>§</sup>	-0.10	0.60 <sup>§</sup>	_					
9. Disgust	-0.61 <sup>§</sup>	-0.62 <sup>§</sup>	-0.57 <sup>§</sup>	-0.33 <sup>§</sup>	-0.67 <sup>§</sup>	0.14	-0.69 <sup>§</sup>	-0.65 <sup>§</sup>	_				
10. Immorality	-0.52 <sup>§</sup>	-0.51 <sup>§</sup>	-0.45 <sup>§</sup>	-0.40 <sup>§</sup>	-0.55 <sup>§</sup>	0.09	-0.56 <sup>§</sup>	-0.63 <sup>§</sup>	0.64 <sup>§</sup>	_			
11. Moral Disgust	-0.63 <sup>§</sup>	-0.63 <sup>§</sup>	-0.57 <sup>§</sup>	-0.41 <sup>§</sup>	-0.68 <sup>§</sup>	0.12	-0.69 <sup>§</sup>	-0.71 <sup>§</sup>	0.91 <sup>§</sup>	0.90 <sup>§</sup>	_		
12. Sexual Prejudice	-0.38 <sup>§</sup>	-0.37 <sup>§</sup>	-0.40 <sup>§</sup>	-0.29 <sup>§</sup>	-0.41 <sup>§</sup>	0.09	-0.20‡	-0.34 <sup>§</sup>	0.33 <sup>§</sup>	0.37 <sup>§</sup>	0.39 <sup>§</sup>	_	
13. SDR	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.07	0.04	0.11	0.19‡	0.11	-0.06	-0.02	-0.04	$0.18^{\dagger}$	-
М	4.65	5.09	4.96	6.00 (1.36)	5.16	3.78	4.63	4.82	3.34	3.35	3.34	3.62	4.03
SD	1.44	1.56	1.60	1.17 (0.38)	1.34	1.16	1.13	1.17	1.31	1.26	1.16	1.33	0.82

*Note*. SDR = socially desirable responding. Helping was transformed for analysis; means and standard deviations in parentheses represent the transformed variable's values.

 $^{\dagger}p < .05. \,^{\ddagger}p < .01. \,^{\$}p < .001.$ 

Straight/Masculine Gay/Masculine Straight/Effeminate Gay/Effeminate Predictor EMM SD EMM SD EMM SD EMM SD Liking 4.97 1.36 4.41 1.36 4.44 1.53 4.87 1.37 **Proximity** 5.40 1.36 4.77 1.48 5.06 1.68 5.24 1.59 5.21 Affiliation 1.52 4.76 1.61 5.00 1.68 5.02 1.54 6.26 1.07 5.89 1.19 5.94 1.21 5.92 1.17 Helping (1.27)(0.36)(1.40)(0.37)(1.38)(0.40)(1.39)(0.39)Global 5.46 1.13 4.96 1.26 5.10 1.28 5.26 1.19 Immorality 3.19 1.06 3.65 1.45 3.16 1.29 3.39 1.24 Moral 3.23 1.04 3.59 1.17 3.22 1.23 3.31 1.24 Disgust Warmth 4.48 1.13 4.32 1.07 4.86 1.11 4.88 1.16 Competence 4.77 1.30 4.71 1.11 4.87 1.03 **4.98** 1.24

	Estimated Marginal Means and Standard Deviations	by Condition for P	Primary and Exploratory	ANCOVA Models
--	--	--------------------	-------------------------	---------------

*Note.* EMM = estimated marginal mean. Global = global evaluation. Bolded predictors are from models where the interaction between John's sexual orientation and gender expression were significant. Bolded EMMs are the highest mean for positively valenced predictors and the lowest mean for negatively valenced predictors. Italicized EMMs are the lowest mean and highest mean for positively and negatively and positively valenced predictors, respectively. Values in parentheses represent the transformed helping variable.

ANCOVA Results and Interaction Descriptives for Liking, Proximity, Global Evaluation, and Affiliation Models

		Liking Model			Proximity Model					
	F	р	$\eta_p^2$	М	EMM	F	р	$\eta_p^2$	М	EMM
Sexual Prejudice	33.94	<.001	.15			33.00	<.011	.15		
SO	0.21	.649	.00			1.35	.247	.01		
GE	0.07	.792	.00			0.06	.804	.00		
$SO \times GE$	7.08	.008	.04			4.06	.045	.02		
Masculine/Straight				4.94	4.97				5.37	5.40
-					[4.61, 5.33]					[5.01, 5.80]
Masculine/Gay				4.52	4.41				4.89	4.77
					[4.05, 4.77]					[4.38, 5.16]
Effeminate/Straight				4.35	4.44				4.96	5.06
					[4.08, 4.80]					[4.66, 5.45]
Effeminate/Gay				4.88	4.87				5.25	5.24
					[4.48, 5.26]					[4.82, 5.67]
	Global Evaluation Model		Affiliation Model							
	F	р	$\eta_p^2$	М	EMM	F	р	$\eta_p^2$	М	EMM
Sexual Prejudice	44.80	< .001	.19			37.98	< .001	.17		
SO	1.31	.255	.01			0.94	.333	.01		
GE	0.06	.809	.00			0.00	.983	.00		
$SO \times GE$	4.48	.036	.02			1.48	.226	.01		
Masculine/Straight				5.43	5.46				5.17	5.21
					[5.15, 5.77]					[4.80, 5.61]
Masculine/Gay				5.07	4.96				4.89	4.76
					[4.65, 5.26]					[4.35, 5.16]
Effeminate/Straight				5.01	5.10				4.85	4.96
					[4.79, 5.41]					[4.55, 5.36]
Effeminate/Gay				5.27	5.26				5.01	5.02
					[4.94, 5.59]					[4.58, 5.45]

*Note.* SO = John's sexual orientation. GE = John's gender expression. EMM = estimated marginal mean. Numbers in brackets represent 95% confidence intervals for EMMs. The helping model was excluded from this table, but its results are similar to those from the affiliation model (i.e., sexual prejudice is the only significant predictor and the means by condition follow a similar pattern).

Path	R	SE	п	95% CI
1 uui	D	5L	P	7570 CI
Total effect	0.00	.21	.997	[-0.41, 0.41]
$SO \rightarrow EV$	1.05	.22	<.001	[0.63, 1.48]
$GE \times SO \rightarrow EV$	-0.72	.22	.023	[-1.33, -0.10]
$EV \rightarrow Liking$	0.00	.13	.972	[-0.25, 0.26]
$GE \times EV \rightarrow Liking$	0.01	.17	.957	[-0.33, 0.35]
$GE \times SO \rightarrow Liking$	0.99	.40	.014	[0.21, 1.78]
Conditional indirect effects				
Masculine	0.01	.14	—	[-0.29, 2.84]
Effeminate	0.01	.05	—	[-0.10, 0.13]
Index of moderated mediation	0.00	.15	_	[-0.30, 0.31]
Direct effect	-0.57	.29	.054	[-1.15, 0.01]

Table 7

Moderated Mediation Effects for Liking Model

*Note*. SO = John's sexual orientation (where 1 = gay, 0 = straight). GE = John's gender expression (where 1 = effeminate, 0 = masculine). EV = expectancy violation. *B* coefficients are unstandardized.

Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Estimated Marginal Means for Liking



Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Estimated Marginal Means for Proximity



Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Estimated Marginal Means for Global Evaluation



Interaction Plot for John's Sexual Orientation and Gender Expression on the Means for Perceived Expectancy Violation





*Note.* John's sexual orientation is coded such that 1 = gay, 0 = gay. John's gender expression is coded such that 1 = effeminate, 0 = masculine. <sup>†</sup>p < .05. <sup>§</sup>p < .001.

# Appendix A

## Marcus (Filler Target 1) Photo and Vignette



Marcus is a 32-year-old Latino man.

He is an accountant.

He is straight.

He maintains eye contact when someone is talking to him.

He prefers to have smoothies for breakfast.

He likes to do crossword puzzles.

He walks with a slight limp.

## Appendix B

## Susan (Filler Target 2) Photo and Vignette



Susan is a 72-year-old Black woman.

She is an office receptionist.

She is straight.

She looks up and to the left when she thinks deeply about something.

She prefers to play dominoes instead of going out.

She likes to read books.

She is naturally agile.

# Appendix C



# Masculine (left) and Effeminate Photo Manipulations for John

## **Appendix D**

## **Vignette Manipulations for John**

Sexual orientation manipulations are included in brackets and gender conformity manipulations are included in parentheses (masculine/effeminate).

Vignette with behavior set 1:

John is a 21-year-old White man.

He is an office worker.

He is [straight/gay].

He gestures (assertively/flamboyantly) when he gets excited.

He prefers to see new movies in theaters.

He likes to play cards.

He speaks with a (deep/high) voice.

Vignette with behavior set 2:

John is a 21-year-old White man.

He is an office worker.

He is [straight/gay].

He (swaggers his shoulders/sways his hips) as he walks.

He prefers to see new movies in theaters.

He likes to play cards.

He has a (firm/soft) handshake.
#### References

- Adams, K. A., Nagoshi, C. T., Filip-Crawford, G., Terrell, H. K., & Nagoshi, J. L. (2016).
   Components of gender-nonconformity prejudice. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 17(3–4), 185–198.
- Ambady, N., Hallahan, M., & Conner, B. (1999). Accuracy of judgments of sexual orientation from thin slices of behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(3), 538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.3.538</u>
- Bailey, J. M., & Zucker, K. J. (1995). Childhood sex-typed behavior and sexual orientation: A conceptual analysis and quantitative review. *Developmental Psychology*, 31(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.31.1.43
- Bartlett, N. H., Vasey, P. L., & Bukowski, W. M. (2000). Is Gender Identity Disorder in children a mental disorder? *Sex Roles, 43*(11–22), 753-785.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011004431889

- Beard, A. J., & Bakeman, R. (2001). Boyhood gender nonconformity: Reported parental behavior and the development of narcissistic issues. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Psychotherapy*, 4(2), 81–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J236v04n02\_07</u>
- Beaver, T. D. (2015). Johnny, are you queer?: The sexual and gender politics of ambiguous sexual identity. (Doctoral dissertation).

https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/31674

Biernat, M., Vescio, T. K., & Billings, L. S. (1999). Black sheep and expectancy violation: Integrating two models of social judgment. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 29(4), 523–542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-0992(199906)29:4<523::AID-</u> <u>EJSP944>3.0.CO;2-J</u>

- Blashill, A. J., & Powlishta, K. K. (2009a). Gay stereotypes: The use of sexual orientation as a cue for gender-related attributes. *Sex Roles*, 61(11–12), 783–793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9684-7
- Blashill, A. J., & Powlishta, K. K. (2009b). The impact of sexual orientation and gender role on evaluations of men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 10(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014583
- Blashill, A. J., & Powlishta, K. K. (2012). Effects of gender-related domain violations and sexual orientation on perceptions of male and female targets: An analogue study. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(5), 1293–1302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-9971-1</u>
- Bosak, J., Kulich, C., Rudman, L., & Kinahan, M. (2018). Be an advocate for others, unless you are a man: Backlash against gender-atypical male job candidates. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 19(1), 156–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000085</u>
- Brooks, A. S., Luyt, R., Zawisza, M., & McDermott, D. T. (2019). Ambivalent homoprejudice towards gay men: Theory Development and validation. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 67(9), 1261–1289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2019.1585729</u>
- Bryant, K. (2008). In defense of gay children? 'Progay' homophobia and the production of homonormativity. *Sexualities*, 11(4), 455-475.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460708091744

Carter, D. B., & McCloskey, L. A. (1983). Peers and the maintenance of sex-typed behavior: The development of children's conceptions of cross-gender behavior in their peers. *Social Cognition*, 2(4), 294–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/soco.1984.2.4.294</u>

- Clarke, V., & Smith, M. (2015). "Not hiding, not shouting, just me": Gay men negotiate their visual identities. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 62(1), 4-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2014.957119
- Connell, R. W. (1987). *Gender and power: Society, the person, and sexual politics*. Stanford, CA:Stanford University Press.
- Coull, A., Yzerbyt, V. Y., Castano, E., Paladino, M. P., & Leemans, V. (2001). Protecting the ingroup: Motivated allocation of cognitive resources in the presence of threatening ingroup members. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 4(4), 327–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430201004004003</u>
- Cuddy, A. J. C., Fiske, S. T., & Glick, P. (2007). The BIAS map: Behaviors from intergroup affect and stereotypes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(4), 631–648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.4.631</u>
- Dyck, J. M., Oliffe, J., Phinney, A., & Garrett, B. (2009). Nursing instructors' and male nursing students' perceptions of undergraduate, classroom nursing education. *Nurse Education Today*, 29(6), 649–653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2009.02.003</u>
- Eguchi, S. (2009). Negotiating hegemonic masculinity: The rhetorical strategy of "straightacting" among gay men. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, *38*(3), 193– 209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17475759.2009.508892</u>
- Eidelman, S., & Biernat, M. (2003). Derogating black sheep: Individual or group protection? Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 39(6), 602–609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1031(03)00042-8</u>
- Fiske, S. T., Cuddy, A. J. C., Glick, P., & Xu, J. (2002). A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: Competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and

competition. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 82(6), 787–902.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.878

Gowen, C. W., & Britt, T. W. (2006). The interactive effects of homosexual speech and sexual orientation on the stigmatization of men: Evidence for Expectancy Violation Theory.
 *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 25(4), 437–456.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0261927X06292769

Gul, P., & Uskul, A. K. (2020). An alternative account of anti-effeminacy bias: Reputation concerns and lack of coalitional value explain honor-oriented men's reluctance to befriend feminine men. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167220963665

<u>mapsi, actory, 10,117, 10,110, 220,05000</u>

- Harry, J. (1989). Parental physical abuse and sexual orientation in males. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 18(3), 251–261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01543199</u>
- Hart, C. M., Ritchie, T. D., Hepper, E. G., & Gebauer, J. E. (2015). The Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding Short Form (BIDR-16). SAGE Open, 5(4), 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015621113

- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Hennen, P. (2001). Powder, pomp, power: Toward a typology and genealogy of effeminacies. *Social Thought and Research*, *24*(1–2), 121–144.

Herek, G. M. (1988). Heterosexuals' attitudes toward lesbians and gay men: Correlates and gender differences. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 25(4), 451–477. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224498809551476

- Herek, G. M., & McLemore, K. A. (2013). Sexual prejudice. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64(1), 309–333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143826</u>
- Hodson, G., Choma, B. L., Boisvert, J., Hafer, C. L., MacInnis, C. C., & Costello, K. (2013). The role of intergroup disgust in predicting negative outgroup evaluations. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 49(2), 195–205.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2012.11.002

- Hooilim, M., & Bottomley, V. (1983). A combined approach to the treatment of effeminate behaviour in a boy: A case study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 24(3), 469–479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1983.tb00122.x</u>
- Horn, S. S. (2007). Adolescents' acceptance of same-sex peers based on sexual orientation and gender expression. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *36*(3), 363–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-006-9111-0</u>
- Iyengar, S. (2011). Laboratory experiments in political science. In J. N. Druckman, D. P. Green, J. H. Kuklinski, & A. Lupia (Eds.), *Cambridge Handbook of Experimental Political Science* (pp. 73–88). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Jackson, L. A., Sullivan, L. A., & Hodge, C. N. (1993). Stereotype effects of attributions, predictions, and evaluations: No two social judgments are quite alike. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(1), 69–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> <u>3514.65.1.69</u>
- Johnson, K. L., Gill, S., Reichman, V., & Tassinary, L. G. (2007). Swagger, sway, and sexuality: Judging sexual orientation from body motion and morphology. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 93(3), 321–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.3.321</u>

- Jussim, L., Coleman, L. M., & Lerch, L. (1987). The nature of stereotypes: A comparison and integration of three theories. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(3), 536– 546.
- Kuper, L. E., Nussbaum, R., & Mustanski, B. (2012). Exploring the diversity of gender and sexual orientation identities in an online sample of transgender individuals. *Journal of Sex Research*, 49(2-3), 244–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2011.596954</u>
- Landolt, M. A., Bartholomew, K., Saffrey, C., Oram, D., & Perlman, D. (2004). Gender nonconformity, childhood rejection, and adult attachment: A study of gay men. *Archives* of Sexual Behavior, 33(2), 117–128.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:ASEB.0000014326.64934.50

- Laner, M. R., & Laner, R. H. (1979). Personal style or sexual preference: Why gay men are disliked. *International Review of Modern Sociology*, 9(2), 215–228.
- Lehavot, K., & Lambert, A. J. (2007). Toward a greater understanding of antigay prejudice: On the role of sexual orientation and gender role violation. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 29(3), 279–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01973530701503390</u>
- Levant, R. F., Smalley, K. B., Aupont, M., House, A. T., Richmond, K., & Noronha, D. (2007). Initial validation of the Male Role Norms Inventory-Revised (MRNI-R). *Journal of Men's Studies*, 15(1), 83–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.3149/jms.1501.83</u>
- Li, Y., Bogicevic, V., Obeidat, W. E., & Bujisic, M. (2020). Discrimination of hotel employees: The role of heteronormativity and political exclusion. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 91, 102652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102652</u>

- Linville, S. E. (1998). Acoustic correlates of perceived versus actual sexual orientation in men's speech. *Folia Phoniatrica et Logopaedica*, 50(1), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1159/000021447
- Lippa, R. A. (2002). Gender-related traits of heterosexual and homosexual men and women. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *31*(1), 83–98.
- MacDonald, A. P., & Games, R. G. (1976). Some characteristics of those who hold positive and negative attitudes toward homosexuals. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 1(1), 9–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v01n01\_02</u>
- Mahalik, J. R., Locke, B. D., Ludlow, L. H., Diemer, M. A., Scott, R. P. J., Gottfried, M., & Freitas, G. (2003). Development of the Conformity to Masculine Norms Inventory. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 4(1), 3–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1524-9220.4.1.3</u>
- Mallory, C., Brown, T. N., & Conron, K. J. (2019). Conversion Therapy and LGBT Youth:
   Update. The Williams Institute. Retrieved from <a href="https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0937z8tn">https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0937z8tn</a>
- Marques, J. M., & Paez, D. (1994). The 'Black Sheep Effect': Social categorization, rejection of ingroup deviates, and perception of group variability. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 5(1), 37–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/14792779543000011
- Marques, J. M., Yzerbyt, V. Y., & Leyens, J.-P. (1988). The "Black Sheep Effect": Extremity of judgments towards ingroup members as a function of group identification. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 18(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2420180102</u>
- Martin, C. L. (1990). Attitudes and expectations about children with nontraditional and traditional gender roles. *Sex Roles*, *22*(3–4), 151–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00288188

- Massey, S. G., Merriwether, A. M., & Garcia, J. R. (2013). Modern prejudice and same-sex parenting: Shifting judgments in positive and negative parenting situations. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 9(2), 129–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2013.765257</u>
- McGuire, A. M. (1994). Helping behaviors in the natural environment: Dimensions and correlates of helping. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 20(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167294201004
- Miller, B., & Behm-Morawitz, E. (2016). "Masculine guys only": The effects of femmephobic mobile dating application profiles on partner selection for men who have sex with men. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 62, 176-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.088</u>
- Mize, T. D., & Manago, B. (2018). The stereotype content of sexual orientation. Social Currents, 5(5), 458–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2329496518761999</u>
- Morrison, M. A., & Morrison, T. G. (2003). Development and validation of a scale measuring modern prejudice toward gay men and lesbian women. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 43(2), 15–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v43n02\_02</u>
- Moss-Racusin, C. A., & Johnson, E. R. (2016). Backlash against male elementary educators. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 46(7), 379–393. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12366
- Moss-Racusin, C. A., Phelan, J.E., & Rudman, L.A.. (2010). When men break the gender rules: Status incongruity and backlash against modest men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *11*(2), 140–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018093</u>
- Nadal, K. L. (2013). *That's So Gay! Microaggressions and the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Community.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

- Olatunji, B. O. (2008). Disgust, scrupulosity and conservative attitudes about sex: Evidence for a mediational model of homophobia. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(5), 1364–1369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.04.001</u>
- Orne, M. T. (1962). On the social psychology of the psychological experiment: With particular reference to demand characteristics and their implications. *American Psychologist*, 17(11), 776–783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0043424</u>
- Parent, M. C., Torrey, C., & Michaels, M. S. (2012). "HIV testing is so gay": The role of masculine gender role conformity in HIV testing among men who have sex with men. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(3), 465–470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028067</u>
- Parmenter, J. G., Blume, A. K., Crowell, K. A., & Galliher, R. V. (2019). Masculine gender-role congruence among sexual minority men. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, 13(2), 134–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15538605.2019.1597819</u>
- Pleck, J., Sonenstein, F. L., & Ku, L. C. (1998). Masculinity ideology and its correlates. In B. K. Clinchy & J. Norem (Eds.). *The Gender Psychology Reader*. New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Poushter, J., & Kent, N. (2020, June 25). *The Global Divide on Homosexuality Persists*. Pew Research Center. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2020/06/25/global-divide-on-homosexuality-persists/</u>
- Preacher, K. J., Rucker, D. D., & Hayes, A. F. (2007). Addressing moderated mediation hypotheses: Theory, methods, and prescriptions. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 42(1), 185–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00273170701341316</u>

- Raja, S., & Stokes, J. P. (1998). Assessing attitudes toward lesbians and gay men: The modern homophobia scale. *International Journal of Sexuality and Gender Studies*, 3(2), 113–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023244427281</u>
- Ratcliff, J. J., Lassiter, G. D., Markman, K. D., & Snyder, C. J. (2006). Gender differences in attitudes toward gay men and lesbians: The role of motivation to respond without prejudice. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32(10), 1325–1338. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167206290213
- Reese, G., Steffens, M. C., & Jonas, K. J. (2013). When black sheep make us think: Information processing and devaluation of in- and outgroup norm deviants. *Social Cognition*, 31(4), 482–503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/soco\_2012\_1005</u>
- Rieger, G., Linsenmeier, J. A. W., Gygax, L., & Bailey, J. M. (2008). Sexual orientation and childhood gender nonconformity: Evidence from home videos. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(1), 46–58. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.44.1.46
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (1999). Feminized management and backlash toward agentic women: The hidden costs to women of a kinder, gentler image of middle managers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(5), 1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.5.1004</u>
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (2001). Prescriptive gender stereotypes and backlash toward agentic women. *Journal of Social Issues*, 57(4), 743–762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-</u> 4537.00239
- Rule, N. O., Bjornsdottir, R. T., Tskhay, K. O., & Ambady, N. (2016). Subtle perceptions of male sexual orientation influence occupational opportunities. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(12), 1687–1704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000148</u>

- Sánchez, F. J., & Vilain, E. (2012). "Straight-acting gays": The relationship between masculine consciousness, anti-effeminacy, and negative gay identity. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(1), 111–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-9912-z</u>
- Schatzberg, A. F., Westfall, M. P., Blumetti, A. B., & Birk, C. L. (1975). Effeminacy. I. A quantitative rating scale. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 4(1), 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01541884
- Schaumberg, R. L., & Flynn, F. J. (2017). Self-reliance: A gender perspective on its relationship to communality and leadership evaluations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60(5), 1859–1881. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0018</u>
- Schnall, S., Haidt, J., Clore, G. L., & Jordan, A. H. (2008). Disgust as embodied moral judgment. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(8), 1096–1109. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208317771
- Schope, R. D., & Eliason, M. J. (2004). Sissies and tomboys: Gender role behaviors and homophobia. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Social Services*, 16(2), 73–97.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J041v16n02\_05

- Sink, A., Mastro, D., & Dragojevic, M. (2018). Competent or warm? A stereotype content model approach to understanding perceptions of masculine and effeminate gay television characters. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 95(3), 588–606. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077699017706483
- Skidmore, W. C., Linsenmeier, J. A., & Bailey, J. M. (2006). Gender nonconformity and psychological distress in lesbians and gay men. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 35(6), 685-697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-006-9108-5</u>

- Smith, T. E., & Leaper, C. (2005). Self-perceived gender typicality and the peer context during adolescence. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 16(1), 91-104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00123.x
- Steffens, M. C., Niedlich, C., Beschorner, R., & Köhler, M. C. (2019). Do positive and negative stereotypes of gay and heterosexual men affect job-related impressions? *Sex Roles*, 80(9), 548–564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-018-0963-z</u>
- Stoller, R. J. (1978). Boyhood gender aberrations: Treatment issues. Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association, 26(3), 541-558.

https://doi.org/10.1177/000306517802600304

- Storms, M. D. (1978). Attitudes toward homosexuality and femininity in men. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *3*(3), 257-263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v03n03\_08</u>
- Tajfel, H. (1982). Social psychology of intergroup relations. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 33(1), 1–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ps.33.020182.000245</u>
- Taywaditep, K. J. (2002). Marginalization among the marginalized: Gay men's anti-effeminacy attitudes. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 42(1), 1–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v42n01\_01</u>
- Turban, J. L., King, D., Reisner, S. L., & Keuroghlian, A. S. (2019). Psychological attempts to change a person's gender identity from transgender to cisgender: Estimated prevalence across US states, 2015. American Journal of Public Health, 109(10), 1452–1454. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305237
- Turner, J. C., & Reynolds, K. J. (2010). The story of social identity. In T. Postmes and N. R. Branscombe (Eds.), *Rediscovering Social Identity* (pp. 13–32). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.

- Wells, G. L., & Windschitl, P. D. (1999). Stimulus sampling and social psychological experimentation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(9), 1115–1125.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672992512005">https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672992512005</a>
- Wrate, R. M., & Gulens, V. (1986). A systems approach to child effeminacy and the prevention of adolescent transsexualism. *Journal of Adolescence*, *9*, 215-229.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-1971(86)80004-5

# Vita

# Art D. Marsden

admarsde@syr.edu | artdmarsden@gmail.com

Education		
Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY		
Ph.D. in Social Psychology	Expected 2024	
M.S. in Psychology	Expected 2022	
University of North Teyas (UNT) Denton TX		

University of North Texas (UNT), Denton, TX

B.S. in Psychology, Summa Cum Laude <u>Dec 2017</u> Thesis: Does Empathy Mediate the Relationship between Political Ideology and Sexual Prejudice?

## **Select Awards and Honors**

CloudResearch Grant Award (\$2500), Innovations in Online Research 2021	<u>Fall 2021</u>
Project: Validating an AI-Generated Database of Social Psychology Face Stin	nuli
SPSP Graduate Travel Award (\$500), <i>SPSP 2022</i>	<u>Fall 2021</u>
Undergraduate Student Poster Award-First Place (\$100), SPSP 2018	<u>Spring 2018</u>
Diversity Fund Undergraduate Registration Award (\$160), SPSP 2018	<u>Fall 2017</u>
Brownlee-Moore Scholarship (\$1000), UNT	<u>Spring 2017</u>
Louis C. Weber Outstanding Undergraduate Student Award (\$750), UNT	<u>Spring 2017</u>
One available annually for undergraduate psychology students	
Best Poster Prize (\$300), ISSWSH 2017	<u>Spring 2017</u>
Off-Campus Student Services Book Award (\$200), UNT	<u>Fall 2016</u>
Transfer Scholarship I (\$6000), UNT	<u>Fall 2015</u>

## Employment

University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, STRONG STAR and the		
Consortium to Alleviate PTSD—Fort Hood Research Site		
Research Area Specialist-Associate	<u>Jan 2018 – July 2019</u>	
Project: STRONG STAR Training Initiative		
Principal Investigators: Katherine A. Dondanville, Psy.D.	.; Brooke A. Fina, LCSW	

Project coordinator for national grant-funded program that trained over 900 mental health providers in evidence-based therapies (CPT, PE, CBT-I&N, CRP) for treating veterans with PTSD.

### Project: Treatment of Comorbid Sleep Disorders and PTSD

*Principal Investigator*: Daniel J. Taylor, Ph.D.*Co-Principal Investigators*: Patricia A. Resick, Ph.D.; Alan L. Peterson, Ph.D.; Doug E.Williamson, Ph.D.

Research assistant for U.S. Departments of Defense and Veterans Affairs-funded randomized controlled trial to examine how to incorporate cognitive-behavioral intervention in treating active duty service members suffering from PTSD and comorbid sleep issues.

### **Articles Published in Peer-Reviewed Journals**

- Barnett, M. D., & Marsden, A. D. (2021). The death panel myth among older adults: Political ideology, advance directives, and perceived discrimination on the basis of age. *Journal of Death Studies*, 45(10), 827-837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1699200</u>
- Marsden, A. D., & Barnett, M. D. (2020). The role of empathy in the relationship between social political ideology and sexual prejudice in heterosexual college students in the U.S. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 49(5), 1853-1861. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-019-01545-5</u>
- Barnett, M. D., Van Vleet, S. C., Maciel, I. V., & Marsden, A. D. (2019). Motivations for faking orgasm and orgasm consistency among young adult women. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 149, 83-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.05.031</u>
- Barnett, M. D., Öz, H. C. M., & Marsden, A. D. (2018). Economic and social political ideology and homophobia: The mediating role of binding and individualizing moral foundations. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *47*, 1183-1194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-017-0989-</u> 2
- Barnett, M. D., Anderson, E. A, & Marsden, A. D. (2018). Is death anxiety more closely linked with optimism or pessimism among older adults? *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 77, 169-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2018.05.003</u>

- Barnett, M. D., Berry, K. E., Maciel, I. V., & Marsden, A. D. (2018). The primal scene phenomenon: Witnessing parental sexual activity and sociosexual orientation. *Sexuality* & Culture, 22, 162-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-017-9458-2</u>
- Barnett, M. D., Fleck, L. K., Marsden, A. D, & Martin, K. J. (2017). Sexual semantics: The meanings of sex, virginity, and abstinence for university students. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 106, 203-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.11.008</u>

**Presentations** (\* denotes undergraduate mentee)

- Marsden, A. D., & Newman, L. S. (2022, February). *Revising and validating a measure of gay men's attitudes toward effeminacy in other gay men* [Poster presentation]. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, San Francisco, CA.
- \*Gjoka, M., Marsden, A.D., McArdle, K. L., Yuan, Y., Tapia, S. A., Figuerlli, L. L., & Newman, L. S. (2022, February). *Is there still sex discrimination after death? Examining gender differences in obituaries* [Poster presentation]. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, San Francisco, CA.
- Ramdass, J. V., Jaurique, A., Marsden, A. D., Ess, M., & Burke, S. E. (2022, February).
   *Morality, uncertainty, and group identification influence candidate support, voting behavior, and reactions to the 2020 U.S. Elections* [Poster presentation]. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, San Francisco, CA.
- Marsden, A.D. (2021, October). Validating an AI-Generated Database of Social Psychology Face Stimuli [Conference session]. CloudResearch's 2021 Innovations in Online Research Conference, virtual meeting.
- Coldiron, A. M., Bennett-Leleux, L. J., Lee, D. C., Childers, L. G., Donnell, R. L., Sandlin, A. M.,
  Marsden, A. D., & Barnett, M. D. (2020, November). *Older adults' persisting beliefs about the death panel myth and advance directives* [Poster presentation]. 2020 Annual Scientific Meeting of the Gerontological Society of America, Philadelphia, PA. (Abstract published in *Innovation in Aging*, *4*[*s*1], 68.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igaa057.223</u>)
- Karp, J. N., Marsden, A. D., Kaya, R. A., Barrera, M. L., Fina, B. A., & Dondanville, K. A.
  (2019, November). Community mental health provider buy-in: Looking at protocol adherence in a Cognitive Processing Therapy training program [Poster presentation]. International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies 35th Annual Meeting, Boston, MA.

- Kaya, R. A., Evans, W. R., Straud, C. L., Karp, J. N., Fina, B. A., Dondanville, K. A., Marsden,
  A. D., & Zaturenskaya, M. Y. (2019, November). *The STRONG STAR Training Initiative: Preliminary client outcomes by population type of a community-based PTSD EBP training program* [Poster presentation]. 53rd Annual Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapy Convention, Atlanta, GA.
- Zaturenskaya, M. Y., Bliss, S. J., Dondanville, K. A., Fina, B. A., Jacoby, V., Karp, J. N., &
   Marsden, A. D. (2019, September). *Barriers to implementation of evidence-based treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder at 12-months post-training* [Poster presentation]. 5th Biennial Society for Implementation Research, Seattle, WA.
- Fina, B. A., Dondanville, K. A., Marsden, A. D., Moring, J., & Rozek, D. C. (2019, April). Implementation of Crisis Response Planning for veteran-serving community behavioral health providers: Best practices from a statewide training initiative [Conference session]. 52nd American Association of Suicidology Annual Conference, Denver, CO.
- Dondanville, K. A., Fina, B. A., Finley, E. P., Karp, J. N., & Marsden, A. D. (2018, December). Improving access to evidence-based treatments for PTSD: Understanding providers' rates of treatment initiation post-training in community settings [Poster presentation].
  11th Annual Conference on the Science of Dissemination and Implementation in Health, Washington, D.C.
- Karp, J. N., Marsden, A. D., Fina, B. A., & Dondanville, K. A. (2018, November). Patient outcomes for two evidence-based PTSD treatment training programs [Poster presentation]. Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, Washington, D.C.
- Fina, B. A., Bliss, S. J., Marsden, A. D., & Dondanville, K. A. (2018, October). Improving access to evidence-based treatments for PTSD: Understanding providers' rates of treatment initiation post-training in community settings [Symposium]. 3rd Annual San Antonio Combat PTSD Conference, San Antonio, TX.
- Karp, J. N., Marsden, A. D., Fina, B. A., & Dondanville, K. A. (2018, October). STRONG STAR Training Initiative: Examining symptom changes in patients with PTSD [Poster presentation]. 3rd Annual San Antonio Combat PTSD Conference, San Antonio, TX.
- **Marsden, A. D.**, Karp, J. N., Fina, B. A., & Dondanville, K. A. (2018, May). *STRONG STAR Training Initiative: Preliminary project outcomes of Texas community mental health*

*providers and their patients* [Poster presentation]. UT Health San Antonio Department of Psychiatry 6th Annual Research and Quality Improvement Day, San Antonio, TX.

- Karp, J. N., Marsden, A. D., Fina, B. A., & Dondanville, K. A. (2018, May). STRONG STAR Training Initiative: Developing a national vet-serving mental health workforce [Poster presentation]. UT Health San Antonio Department of Psychiatry 6th Annual Research and Quality Improvement Day, San Antonio, TX.
- Dondanville, K. A., Fina, B. A., Karp, J. N., & **Marsden, A. D.** (2018, April). *STRONG STAR Training Initiative: From project to program* [Conference session]. University of Texas Health Science Center Psychiatry Grand Rounds, San Antonio, TX.
- Marsden, A. D., & Barnett, M. D. (2018, March). Dimensions of empathy as mediators between social political ideology and homophobia [Poster presentation]. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, Atlanta, GA. (Winner of Student Poster Award-First Place, SPSP 2018)
- Cantu, C., Marsden, A. D., Millward, K., Galvez, A. M., Bridenbaugh, A., & Barnett, M. D.
   (2018, March). A matter of belief or disbelief? Cognitive religious beliefs and attitudes toward euthanasia [Poster presentation]. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, Atlanta, GA.
- Maciel, I., Warmann, J., Sligar, K. B., Marsden, A. D., Myers, M., Van Vleet, S., & Barnett, M. D. (2017, February). *Moral foundations as a predictor of internalized homophobia and homophobia among bisexual women* [Poster presentation]. International Society for the Study of Women's Sexual Health, Atlanta, GA. (Winner of Best Poster Prize, ISSWSH 2017; Abstract published in *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *14*(6, s5), e368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsxm.2017.04.054)
- Anderson, E. A., Martin, K. J., Marsden, A. D., Moore, J. M., Lapham, T. T., Contreras, B. R., & Barnett, M. D. (2016, November). *Fearing the future, fearing death: Optimism, pessimism, and death anxiety among older adults* [Poster presentation]. Gerontological Society of America Annual Scientific Meeting, New Orleans, LA. (Abstract published in *Gerontologist, 56*[s3]. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw163</u>)

### **Teaching Experience**

Syracuse University Instructor of Record

# <u>Spring 2022</u>

Summer 2020, 2021

Fall 2019 – Spring 2020, Fall 2021

Supervisor: Leonard S. Newman, Ph.D.

*PSY 472: Laboratory in Social Psychology* 

Instructor of record for laboratory course in advanced research methods in social psychology (25 students). Designed all course lessons, created and graded all assignments.

## PSY 274: Social Psychology

Supervisor: Leonard S. Newman, Ph.D.

Instructor of record for online asynchronous (Summer '20) and online synchronous ('21) courses during 6-week summer sessions (43 total students). Designed all course lessons, created and graded all assignments.

# Teaching Assistant

PSY 205: Foundations of Human Behavior

*Supervisors:* Shannon C. Houck, Ph.D.; Meredith J. Martin, Ph.D.; Jennifer A. Clarke, Ph.D. Lecturer for weekly recitation sections (9 total sections, 225 total students) for introductory psychology course. Designed all recitation lessons and weekly quizzes and graded all assignments.

# PSY 335: Psychology of Childhood

Supervisor: Shannon M. Sweeney, Ph.D.

Graded student assignments and held office hours (3 sections, 395 total students).

# PSY 274: Social Psychology

Supervisor: Jessie B. Joyce, Ph.D.

Graded student assignments and held office hours (129 total students).

# University of North Texas

## **Guest Lecturer**

PSYC 4470: Sexual Behavior

Instructor: Michael D. Barnett, Ph. D.

Presented lecture on sexual definitions research and considerations for defining sexual behavior for individuals in same-sex sexual relationships.

# Memberships

Member, Phi Kappa Phi

Fall 2020 – Spring 2021

Spring 2020

<u>Spring 2017</u>

Student Member, Society for Personality and Social Psychology	<u> 2017 – Present</u>
Member, <i>Psi Chi</i>	<u> 2016 – Present</u>
Student Affiliate, American Psychological Association	<u> 2016 – Present</u>